
The Corporation of the Township of South Algonquin 

Regular Council Meeting

February 7, 2024 

1



CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF SOUTH ALGONQUIN 

AGENDA 

REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING
Wednesday, February 7, 2024 9:00 a.m.     

Council Chambers 

Municipal Office 

7 Third Avenue 

Whitney, Ontario 

And ZOOM and You Tube Channel: South Algonquin Council 

1. Open Meeting/Call to order – 9:00 a.m.

2. Roll Call

3. Land Acknowledgement

We acknowledge that we are gathered on the unceded Traditional Territory of the Algonquin Anishinaabeg 

people, specifically the Matouweskarini (people of the Madawaska River).  We further acknowledge that the 

Algonquin People have been stewards of this land since time immemorial and we strive to treat the land along 

with the flora and fauna it supports, the people, their customs and traditions, with honour and respect.  Today, 

this area is home to people of all walks of life, and we acknowledge the shared opportunities and 

responsibilities to live, work and survive within this beautiful territory. 

Chi-miigwetch, All my relations 

4. Additions / Amendments to the Agenda

5. Adoption of the Agenda

Moved by: Seconded by:  Res. # 24- 

THAT:  Council for the Corporation of the Township of South Algonquin adopts the Agenda as circulated for 

the Regular Council Meeting of February 7, 2024. 

Carried 

Defeated 

6. Disclosure of Pecuniary Interest

7. Petitions, Delegations and/or Presentations:

• Erin Gienow & Christine Hudder, St. Francis Valley Healthcare Foundation and member(s) of

the ED Redevelopment Leadership Team

8. Minutes of Previous Meetings (s)

• Adopt the Minutes of the Regular Council Meeting of January 10, 2024

Moved by: Seconded by:       Res. # 24- 

THAT: Council for the Corporation of the Township of South Algonquin adopts the minutes of the Regular 

Council Meeting of January 10, 2024 as circulated. 

Carried 

Defeated    

2



• Adopt the Minutes of the Asset Management Committee Meeting of January 17, 2024

Moved by: Seconded by:  Res # 24- 

THAT: Council for the Corporation of the Township of South Algonquin adopts the minutes of the Asset 

Management Committee Meeting of January 17, 2024 as circulated. 

Carried 

Defeated 

• Adopt the Minutes of the Waste Management Committee Meeting of January 17, 2024

Moved by: Seconded by:   Res # 24- 

THAT: Council for the Corporation of the Township of South Algonquin adopts the minutes of the Waste 

Management Committee Meeting of January 17, 2024 as circulated. 

Carried 

Defeated 

• Adopt the Minutes of the Special Council Meeting of January 26, 2024

Moved by: Seconded by: Res # 24- 

THAT: Council for the Corporation of the Township of South Algonquin adopts the minutes of the Special 

Council Meeting of January 26, 2024 as circulated. 

Carried 

Defeated 

9. Committee, Staff and/or Councillor Reports

10. Business Arising from the Minutes

11. Unfinished Business

12. Correspondence – Action Items

13. Correspondence – Information Items

14. New Business

15. Motions of Council

16. Notice of Motions

17. By-Laws

18. Resolution to Move into a “Closed Session”

19. Adjournment

Moved by:     Seconded by:     Res. # 23- 

THAT:  Council for the Corporation of the Township of South Algonquin adjourns the Regular Council Meeting 

of February 7, 2024 at ______. 

Defeated 

Carried 

3



4



Presentation to Township of South Algonquin 
February 7, 2024

 

5



A History of Caring

• St Francis Memorial Hospital first opened 
its doors on October 25, 1960.

• In 1987 a new wing was opened, which 
housed an enlarged emergency 
department.

• Pride of the community offering 
compassionate care & exceptional services 
close to home.

• Track Record – strong leadership, 
innovative planning, integrative services. 

6



About our Emergency Department

• Current ED is 37 years old – initial patient 
visits/year ~ 5,300.

• Same space has more than doubled its 
patient flow ~ 11,000 visits/year.

• Visits to ED account for 63% of patient 
interactions.

• A new ED – attraction for potential new 
recruits.

• Most important clinical service - Distance to 
secondary facilities over an hour in each 
direction.

7



8



Challenges with Today’s Emergency Department
Limited space 

• Communications desk – built for two

• Lack of space for multiple traumas

• Patient bathroom (accessibility)

• Overall space issues

Privacy & confidentiality concerns
• No separate/private triage area
• Shared entrances & waiting area
• No private areas for grieving & counselling
• Only two exam rooms have privacy doors

9



Infection Control & Occupational Health 
Concerns

• No decontamination area;
inadequate clean/dirty utility space

• Poor lighting/lack of ceiling lifts

Challenges with Today’s Emergency Department

Limited sightlines to patient rooms & main 
waiting area

Inadequate ambulance entrance & waiting 
space

10



The Opportunity – Emergency 
Department

CURRENT CHALLENGES REDEVELOPMENT SOLUTIONS

Privacy and confidentiality

• All exam rooms will be self-contained
• New triage room
• Quiet room for those in psychological or emotional distress
• Discrete registration area separate from waiting room

Limited space

6,000-foot addition allows for: 
• Larger, and centralized, communications centre
• Enhanced sightlines; glass walls with privacy blinds
• Dedicated entrance to Emergency Department 
• Dedicated waiting room for ED 
• Space for EMS personnel
• Enclosed ambulance bay
• Wall separating major treatment and procedure rooms can be opened 

for a larger space to accommodate multiple traumas
• Designated medical and equipment storage space

Infection control

• New isolation room with private washroom 
• Addition of a standardized decontamination space
• Dedicated clean/dirty utility space

11



The Opportunity – Ambulatory care clinic
DID YOU KNOW?

The ambulatory care 
clinic offers outpatient 

services such as:

• Telemedicine
appointments

• Wound care
• IV therapy and more.

6,000-foot renovation to the ambulatory care clinic will:

• Create additional exam rooms
• Improve the flow of services by creating standardized

spaces
• Offer its own waiting room
• Create a new telemedicine consultation room
• Improve patient privacy and comfort

12



13



CAMPAIGN TIMELINE

Feasibility & 
Planning

2021- June 2023

Quiet Phase

Active Solicitation

June 2023 -

Public/Community 
Phase 

Groundbreaking
Celebration and 

Gratitude

14



ED Redevelopment Costs

•Currently projected at $20.4 Million

• Total Local Share $2.7 M:
• $1.7 M (redevelopment – bricks &

mortar) – 90/10 Cost Share Formula
• $1 M for furnishing & equipment –

responsible for 100%

15



Town of Huntsville
• $10 million to help build new hospitals 

in Bracebridge and Huntsville

Communities supporting their local hospitals

Town of Bracebridge
• $10 million to help build new hospitals in 

Bracebridge and Huntsville

16



Help us Grow Together

1. Continue to be ambassadors for local healthcare including
projects such as the ED Redevelopment.

2. Pledge your support to the Growing Together Campaign
$20K total (may be pledged 2-3 years)

17



We all need and depend on our hospital 18



1 

January 10, 2024 

COUNCIL MEETING – MINUTES 

On Wednesday, January 10, 2024, the Council for the Corporation of the Township of South 

Algonquin held a Regular Hybrid Council Meeting via Zoom Meeting and in Chambers, which 

was streamed to YouTube. 

In Chambers:  Staff: 

Mayor LaValley Bryan Martin, CAO/Clerk-Treasurer-Zoom  

Councillor Shawn Pigeon  Steven Ronholm – Public Works Superintendent 

Councillor Laurie Siydock Ian Collins- Fire Chief - Zoom 

Tracy Cannon, Planning & Building Administrator  

Charlene Alexander, CEO/Head Librarian-Zoom 

Zoom: 

Councillor Collins 

Councillor Joe Florent    

Councillor Joan Kuiack  

Councillor Bill Rodnick

1. OPEN MEETING/CALL MEETING TO ORDER:

Mayor Ethel LaValley called the meeting to order at 9:00 a.m.

2. ROLL CALL

3. LAND ACKNOWLEDEMENT

4. ADDITIONS/AMENDMENTS TO THE AGENDA: None

5. ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA

Moved by: Councillor Siydock Seconded by: Councillor Pigeon           Res. # 24-299 

THAT:  Council for the Corporation of the Township of South Algonquin adopts the Agenda as 

circulated for the Regular Council Meeting of January 10, 2024. 

-Carried-

6. DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY INTEREST: None

7. PETITIONS, DELEGATIONS and/or PRESENTATIONS: None

8. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

Moved by: Councillor Florent Seconded by: Councillor Collins              Res. # 24-300 

THAT: Council for the Corporation of the Township of South Algonquin adopts the minutes of 

the Regular Council Meeting of December 6, 2023 as circulated. 

-Carried-

9. COMMITTEE REPORTS, STAFF AND/OR COUNCILLOR REPORTS:

Library Report 

November Library Board Report was provided in the council package by CEO/Head Librarian 

Charlene Alexander. 

In addition to the written report C. Alexander verbally reported: 

• 2024 Ontario Parks Pass Program. Each branch has three passes.

• Joined a Library Speakers Consortiums provides two to three live author talks a month.

Public Works Report A written report was provided in the council package by Public Works 

Superintendent Steven Ronholm.  

In addition to the written report S. Ronholm verbally reported: 

• The original landfill site area at Lyell Landfill Site is nearing capacity. Staff did some

brushing to the new expansion area in December. Excavating will need to be done in 2024

so it can be utilized next winter.

Fire Report 

A written report was provided in the council package by Fire Chief Ian Collins. 

In addition to the written report I. Collins verbally reported: 

• Sad news of the passing of Fire Fighter David Parks. Deepest thoughts and condolences

19



2 

to his wife, Captain Theresa Parks and family. 

Illegal Car Rally Report 

A written report was provided in the council package by Tracy Cannon, Planning & Building 

Administrator. 

In addition to the written report there was discussion around request for resolutions of support. 

Many municipalities are adopting the original resolutions and circulating them for additional 

support which takes up a lot of staff time to track. It is recommended that a policy be created that 

staff only included original resolutions and circulate to appropriate organizations such as AMO 

etc. as they have more influence than a municipality.  

M&L Parks & Recreation Committee 

December 12, 2023 Agenda, November 14, 2023 Minutes, and the Toy Drive Fundraiser Report 

were provided in the council package. 

In addition to the written report Councillor Florent verbally reported: 

• Internet from the Madawaska Library still not working in the Mervin Dupuis Bldg. B.

Martin will have IT look into it.

• M & L Committee will be hosting their annual Trivia Night on March 25th. All

proceeds go the St. Francis Healthcare Foundation. The Seniors New Outlook is

hosting their annual Trivia Night on April 15th.

Whitney Recreation Committee 

October 3, 2023 Minutes were provided in the council package. 

 In addition to the written report Councillor Kuiack verbally reported: 

• No meetings in November or December.

• Tree Lighting and the Parade were both a success.

10. BUSINESS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES:

• Staff will reach out to Whitney Recreation Committee to discuss meeting dates, either

February 7th or March 6th following the Regular Council Meeting.

11. UNFINISHED BUSINESS:

• Summary from the Planner’s regarding comments from the public and the ministries

pertaining to the Official Plan Amendment will be distributed to council in February.

• Staff will review the information received from MNRF regarding the levels of Galeairy

Lake.

12. CORRESPONDENCE-Action Items

• Resolution of Support; Township of Perry - Request to Amend Legislation Act 2006, RE:

Digital Publication

13. CORRESPONDENCE-Information Items

• Renfrew County and District Health Unit 2024 Funding Requirements

• Assessment Notice Crownland Tenants

• Final Strategic Plan with Revisions Per Council Direction

• EV Charging Station Request Letter

14. NEW BUSINESS: None

15. MOTIONS OF COUNCIL:

Moved by:  Councillor Florent  Seconded by:  Councillor Pigeon  Res. # 24-301 

THAT: Council for the Corporation of the Township of South Algonquin accepts Kerri-Lynn 

Mcilmoyle as a member of the Murchison and Lyell Recreation Committee, pending a 

favourable O.P.P. background check.   

-Carried-

Moved by: Councillor Siydock  Seconded by:  Councillor Pigeon             Res. # 24-302 

THAT: Council for the Corporation of the Township of South Algonquin supports the resolution 

from the Town of Wasaga Beach regarding Illegal Car Rally. 

-Defeated- 

 

 

 

20



3 

Moved by: Councillor Florent  Seconded by:  Councillor Collins           Res. # 24-303 

THAT: Council for the Corporation of the Township of South Algonquin supports the resolution 

from the Township of Perry regarding the request to amend the Legislation Act 2006, to include 

digital publication as an acceptable means of publication and notice requirements for Provincial 

Acts and Regulations. 

-Carried-

16. NOTICE OF MOTIONS: None

17. BY-LAWS:

Moved by: Councillor Siydock Seconded by: Councillor Pigeon          Res. # 24-304 

THAT:

1) By-Law 2024-779 Confirm the Proceedings of Council

BE READ A FIRST TIME AND BE DEEMED READ A SECOND TIME 

-Carried-

Moved by: Councillor Florent  Seconded by: Councillor Pigeon  Res. # 24-305       

THAT:  

1) By-Law 2024-779 Confirm the Proceedings of Council

BE READ A THIRD TIME AND PASSED 

-Carried-

18. CLOSED SESSION: None

19. ADJOURNMENT:

Moved by: Councillor Siydock          Seconded by: Councillor Florent         Res. # 24-306 

THAT: Council for the Corporation of the Township of South Algonquin adjourns the Regular 

Council Meeting of January 10, 2024 at 9:40 a.m. 

-Carried-

The next council meeting is scheduled for Wednesday, February 7, 2024 at 9:00 a.m. 

__________________ ___________________________       
Mayor Ethel LaValley       CAO/Clerk-Treasurer Bryan Martin   

21



1 

TOWNSHIP OF SOUTH ALGONQUIN 

ASSET MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE MEETING – MINUTES 

On Wednesday, January 17, 2024 the Asset Management Committee held an in-person and 

Zoom Meeting, livestreamed to YouTube.  

Council Present: 

Councillor Sandra Collins    

Councillor Joe Florent, Chair 

Councillor Joan Kuiack  

Councillor Shawn Pigeon  

Councillor Laurie Siydock 

Councillor Bill Rodnick  

Regrets: Mayor Ethel LaValley 

Township Staff Present: 

Bryan Martin, CAO, Clerk-Treasurer 

Tracy Cannon, Planning & Building Administrator, Recording Secretary 

Chair of the Asset Management Committee, Councillor Florent called the meeting to order at 

9:31 a.m. 

ADDITIONS/AMENDMENTS TO THE AGENDA:  None 

ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA 

Moved by: Councillor Kuiack   Seconded by: Councillor Collins 

To adopt the agenda as circulated.  

DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY INTEREST:   

Zoning By-Law Amendment – Short-Term Rental Accommodations - Councillor Kuiack and 

Councillor Pigeon  

DELEGATIONS/PRESENTATIONS: 

•Neil Warwick & Nancy & Ray Campbell – Request to stop up and close the road allowance

between Concession 6 & 7 Lyell Ward.  Mr. & Mrs. Campbell and Mr. Warwick were both

provided an opportunity to comment prior to T. Cannon presenting the written report circulated

in the package.

Mr. Warwick and Mr. & Mrs. Campbell’s main concern was the request to use the road

allowance from Madawaska Maple Products which may result in additional traffic, noise, and

proximity of the road allowance to the Campbell’s home.

Consensus was for staff to contact the owner of the Madawaska Maple Products to get more

information on the specific need of the road allowance and the exact layout of the existing road

that goes through the property and where it goes to.

•Tracy Mumma – Application to close unopened road allowance – Lyell Lake

Tracy Mumma, applicant was provided an opportunity to comment prior to T. Cannon

presenting the written report provided in the package.

Council accepted the recommendation to proceed with the application on the basis that a

consent application for an easement be applied for benefitting 198 Davies Lane. Tracy Mumma

was in agreeance with this condition.

UNFINISHED BUSINESS:   

Zoning By-Law Amendment – Short-Term Rentals 

Councillor Kuiack and Councillor Pigeon disclosed a conflict of interest and left the council 

chambers.  

T. Cannon presented a written staff report that was circulated in the agenda package. Staff

recommendation is to address the Zoning By-Law Amendment before considering policy.

Consensus was to amend the draft Zoning By-Law to include the following;

• Residential (R1), Settlement Area Shoreline Residential (R2), Shoreline Residential

(SR), Limited Service Shoreline Residential (LSR) and Rural (RU).

• Include Accessory Buildings i.e. bunkies/guest cabins or secondary dwelling units.

• Include Tent Trailers & Travel Trailers as not a permitted structure for Short-Term

Rental Accommodations.

22



2 

The draft By-Law will be revised per discussed and brought back to a future meeting for 

review.  

Councillor Kuiack & Councillor Pigeon came back into the council chambers. 

January 18th Special Council Meeting  

B. Martin advised the committee that he just obtain word that the presenters for the meeting had

to cancel and that it would be rescheduled.

NEW BUSINESS: 

Asset Management Primer for Elected Officials  

Information circulated in the package as information for the committee. 

Proposed Walkway Park -Madawaska 

Councillor Florent circulated a map with the location of the proposed walkway trail adjacent to 

Madawaska River, in the area of the Ball Diamond and Rink in Madawaska. Councillor Florent 

has received commitment from M & L Recreation Committee to contribute $10,000.00 for the 

project. He has spoken to the Whitney & Area Algonquins of Ontario and they have verbally 

stated that they would provide a letter of support for the project.   

Consensus was for staff to start the land use process with the Ministry of Natural Resources and 

Forestry.  

Moved by: Councillor Siydock Seconded by: Councillor Collins 

To adjourn the Asset Management Committee meeting of January 17, 2023, at 11:00 a.m. 

____________________________      _______________________________________ 

Bryan Martin, CAO/Clerk Treasurer    Councillor Joe Florent/Chairperson

23



1 

TOWNSHIP OF SOUTH ALGONQUIN 

WASTE MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE MEETING – MINUTES 

On Wednesday, January 17, 2024 the Waste Management Committee held an in-person and 

Zoom Meeting, livestreamed to YouTube. 

Council Present:  

Councillor Sandra Collins    

Councillor Joe Florent  

Councillor Joan Kuiack  

Councillor Shawn Pigeon  

Councillor Bill Rodnick, Chair | 

Councillor Laurie Siydock 

Regrets: Mayor Ethel LaValley 

Township Staff Present: 

Bryan Martin, CAO, Clerk-Treasurer 

Tracy Cannon, Planning & Building Administrator 

Steve Ronholm, Works Superintendent 

Chair of the Asset Management Committee, Councillor Rodnick called the meeting to order at 

11:05 a.m. 

ADDITIONS/AMENDMENTS TO THE AGENDA: 

• New Business: S. Ronholm, Works Superintendent Waste Management Report

• New Business: Whitney Recreation Request – Festival of Outdoor Rinks

ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA 

Moved by: Councillor Collins   Seconded by: Councillor Florent 

To adopt the agenda as circulated and amended.  

DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY INTEREST:  None 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS:  

Landfill Site Identification Cards 

Staff provided samples, business card style, plastic style and laminated style. Business card 

style is $65.00/100, plastic is $5.50/each, laminated is $3.00/each. Staff did reach out to just one 

supplier and will reach out to more print shops once it is determined which style the committee 

wishes to go with. Consensus was to proceed with the business card style, numbered, and 

sealed. Any replacement cards would be at the cost of the resident.  

NEW BUSINESS: 

Whitney Recreation Request 

Whitney Recreation requested either a display or staff member on site to answer questions 

pertaining to recycling at the Festival of Outdoor Rinks February 23 & 24th weekend. S. 

Ronholm, Works Superintendent will reach out to a staff member and office staff will provided 

some information that can be handed out.   

Waste Management Report 

S. Ronholm, Works Superintendent provided a report of ways to optimize routes and cost

analysis within waste collection and disposal that was requested at a previous meeting.

Moved by: Councillor Florent                                Seconded by: Councillor Pigeon 

To adjourn the Waste Management Committee meeting of January 17, 2024 at 12:16 p.m. 

______________________________      _______________________________________ 

Bryan Martin, CAO/Clerk-Treasurer  Councillor Bill Rodnick/Chairperson

24



1 

January 26, 2024 

SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING – MINUTES 

On Wednesday, January 26, 2024, the Council for the Corporation of the Township of South 

Algonquin held a Special Hybrid Council Meeting via Zoom Meeting and in Chambers, which 

was streamed to YouTube. 

In Chambers:  Staff: 

Mayor LaValley Tracy Cannon, Planning & Building Administrator  

Councillor Joe Florent    

Councillor Joan Kuiack  

Councillor Laurie Siydock 

Councillor Shawn Pigeon

On Zoom: 

Councillor Sandra Collins 

Councillor Bill Rodnick     

Guests via Zoom; Himanshu Sudan, CEO and Lara Coombs of eCAMION Inc. (Jule) – 

Presentation of EV ChargeOn No-Cost Hosting Program 

1. OPEN MEETING/CALL MEETING TO ORDER:

Mayor Ethel LaValley called the meeting to order at 9:00 a.m.

2. ROLL CALL

3. LAND ACKNOWLEDEMENT

4. ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA

Moved by: Councillor Florent Seconded by: Councillor Pigeon         Res. # 24-307 

THAT:  Council for the Corporation of the Township of South Algonquin adopts the Agenda as 

circulated for the Special Council Meeting of January 26, 2024. 

-Carried-

5. DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY INTEREST: None

6.RESOLUTION TO APPOINT DEPUTY CLERK

Moved by: Councillor Kuiack     Seconded by: Councillor Collins  Res. # 24-308 

THAT: Council for the Corporation of the Township of South Algonquin appoint Tracy Cannon 

as Deputy Clerk under s.228(2) of the Municipal Act for the purpose of this meeting. 

-Carried-

7. PETITIONS, DELEGATIONS and/or PRESENTATIONS:
Himanshu Sudan, CEO and Lara Coombs of eCAMION Inc. (Jule) presented a presentation for EV

ChargeOn No-Cost Hosting Program. They requested the township entre into a Memorandum of

Understanding with Ecamion Inc (Jule). They will apply for the provincial EV ChargeOn Grant for

two sites in the township. One site in Whitney, 31 Hay Creek Road and one site in Madawaska, 26C

Major Lake Road. The township incurs no costs.

If successful, Jule will install the stations and maintain the station. They will also pay the township a

monthly fee for the required parking spaces.

8. RESOLUTION

Moved by: Councillor Pigeon         Seconded by: Councillor Kuiack                Res. # 24-309 

THAT: Council for the Corporation of the Township of South Algonquin direct staff to proceed 

with EV ChargeON No-Cost Hosting Program Candidate Application Form and Memorandum 

of Understanding with eCAMION Inc. (Jule).   

-Carried-

7. BY-LAWS:

Moved by: Councillor Florent Seconded by: Councillor Pigeon   Res. # 24-310 

THAT:

1) By-Law 2024-780, Confirm the Proceeding of Council be read a first time and be deemed

read a second time

-Carried- 

  

25



2 

Moved by: Councillor Siydock Seconded by: Councillor Rodnick         Res. # 24-311 

THAT: 

1) By-Law 2024-780, Confirm the Proceedings of Council be read a third time and passed.

-Carried-

8. ADJOURNMENT:

Moved by: Councillor Florent     Seconded by: Councillor Rodnick      Res. # 24-312 

THAT: Council for the Corporation of the Township of South Algonquin adjourns the Special 

Council Meeting of January 26, 2024 at 10:13 a.m. 

-Carried-

The next council meeting is scheduled for Wednesday, February 7, 2024 at 9:00 a.m. 

__________________ ___________________________       
Mayor Ethel LaValley      Tracy Cannon, Acting Deputy Clerk      

26



COUNCIL MEETING 
February 7, 2024 

 

COMMITTEE/STAFF REPORTS: 

1) Minutes of Oct. 17th and Library Report; Charlene Alexander CEO/Head 

Librarian 

2) Public Works & Roads Department Report; Steven Ronholm, Works 

Superintendent 

3) Monthly Fire Report; Ian Collins, Fire Chief 

4) Budgetary Control Report; Jennifer Baragar, Deputy Treasurer 

5) 2023 Year End Reserve Transfers, Jennifer Baragar, Deputy Treasurer 

6) Shore Road Allowance Sale; Tracy Cannon, Planning & Building Administrator 

7) Lake Opeongo Final Recovery Strategy Report; Tracy Cannon, Planning & 

Building Administrator 

8) M&L Parks and Recreation, RE:  Minutes of December 14, 2023 

9) Community Safety Well-being Coordinating Committee Minutes of January 

30, 2024 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

27



Township of South Algonquin Public Library 
Minutes of the Meeting Held 

October 17th 2023 @ 7:00 PM 
 
Attendees: Vicki Forward, Elaine Hare, Rose Jessup, Sarah Ennor, and Councillor Laurie Siydock. Staff: Charlene 
Alexander  Regrets: Cynthia Haskin, Jeff Bowman  
Land Acknowledgement: Vicki Forward 
Call to Order: 7:063pm 
1. Motion # 2023-34 
 Moved by – Elaine Hare Seconded by – Rose Jessup /To approve the agenda/Carried 
2. Motion # 2023-35 
Moved by – Elaine Hare Seconded by – Rose Jessup /To approve the minutes of September 19th 2023 / 
Carried 
3. Report of the Chair:  Did not need to speak to Bryan Martin regarding water issues in Whitney as 

they had been resolved. 
4. Business Arising From the Minutes 

4.1. Little Free Libraries: Have requested the little libraries be moved to the recreation halls for 
use during the winter. 

4.2. School Visits: There are now four classes visiting, two each alternating on Wednesdays. 
4.3. Water Issues in Whitney: The well was successfully fractured, and the water issue has 

resolved. Brick work still needs to be put back into place. 
4.4. Leasing Equipment: The Township leases one big photocopier and all other equipment is 

purchased. 
 

6.1 Finance: Would Cynthia receive mileage for working in Whitney as a regular schedule? No, she 
would not. 

6.3 Council Report: The township is working on a Truth & Reconciliation program. 
7.1 Policy: 

Motion # 2023-36 
Moved by – Sarah Ennor Seconded by – Rose Jessup /To approve the Device And Special Item Lending 
Agreement update / Carried 
Patron Engagement:  
Friendship campaign. For anyone that brings a friend to register for a library card, both names go into 
a ballot for a draw. 
Business: Reach out to local businesses to promote our services. 
Volunteer Engagement: Use volunteers for events. 
Next Meeting November 21st 2023 @ 7:00 PM Whitney 
Motion # 2023-37 

Moved by –      Elaine Hare Seconded by – Rose Jessup /To adjourn 8:44pm Carried 

28



Township of South Algonquin Public Library - Charlene Alexander 
Report – February 2024 

 
Staff 

Suitable coverage continues at the Madawaska branch 

Programming 
Festival of Outdoor Rinks: On Saturday February 24th, we will be hosting a used book sale & 
tech display from 10am – 2pm and a hockey themed story time at 11am at the Whitney branch. 
 
Community Seed Library: The seed library is being updated and restocked and will be available 
to patrons on February 24th. 
 
Canada Reads: Both branches will have all five shortlisted titles available by February 10th.  
 
Library Speakers Consortium: The Library has partnered with Library Speakers Consortium to 
bring you virtual live & archived author talks. There will be 2 -3 live talks per month. To view 
upcoming & archived event and to register for an event, please visit our speakers website at 
https://libraryc.org/southalgonquinlibrary 
 
 
Contact and Service Hours 
Whitney: Wi-Fi 24/7  
Wednesdays 10am -3pm, Thursdays 12:00pm - 7:00pm, Saturdays 10am – 2pm 
whitneylibrary@southalgonquin.ca 613-637-5471  
 
Madawaska: Wi-Fi 24/7 
Tuesdays 10am -3pm, Thursdays 12:00pm - 7:00pm, Saturdays 10am – 2pm  
madawaskalibrary@southalgonquin.ca 613-637-1099  
 

29



 

Council Report for February 2024 Meeting – Public Works & Roads Department 

Date: Wednesday February 7th, 2024 

Submitted by: Steven Ronholm, Public Works Superintendent 

• Landfill Operations 
 

o Household Waste Collection material currently going to Lyell Landfill as of December 
2023 and being covered with cover material as required.  

o Regular site cleanup of Shred Material ongoing at both landfills as required 
o Annual Capacity Surveys by JP2G were completed at both Lyell & Airy Landfills in late 

December 2023 
▪ 2023 Annual Report forthcoming from JP2G and is due by March 31st, 2024 

o Pickups for scrap steel, tires & electronics were all completed mid-October of 2023 for 
both landfill sites & sites are currently still in good condition 

o Burning of Brush at landfills completed in December 2023 
o Landfill Privies constructed and installed in January 2024 

 

• Drainage & Road Improvements  

 

o A good inventory of various size culverts have been purchased and stored in the yard in 

preparation for Spring 2024 

o Pre-Planning for 2024 culvert replacements and ditching locations will be completed in 

February 2024 

 

• Winter Sand Update  

 

o 2900t of sand delivered and installed into sand dome at the works yard in August 2023 

o Usage of Winter Sand being monitored on a biweekly basis throughout the winter 

months 

▪ Approximately 850t of sand used up from November – January 2nd, 2024 (29% of 

annual amount brought in in Summer of 2023) 

▪ January 2024 Winter Sand Usage = 700t (24% of annual sand amount) 

▪ Total sand usage up to end of January 2024 = 1550t = 53% of sand supply 

 

 

 

 

30



• Capital Projects Update  

 

o Tom & Mick Murray Park Story Boards – Still waiting on acceptance from MNRF. Story 

boards have been fabricated and are currently stored at the yard in Madawaska ready 

for installation once we receive final approvals from MNRF. MNRF requires letters of 

support, or, records of engagement indicating support for the storyboards from both 

Algonquins of Pikwakanagan First Nation and the Algonquins of Ontario consultation 

office. 

▪ January 2024 Update – A few comments received back from The Algonquins 

o Capital Budget planning for 2024 Season is ongoing and will be presented to Council at 

the end of February 2024 

 

• Bi-Annual OSIM’S – Jewell Engineering completed Bi-Annual Inspections on all Township 

structures on July 20th, 2023.  

o Final Reports for all structure Inspections were received on November 27th, 2023. 

Repairs that will be required within the next 5 year period are as follows: 

▪ Algonquin Street Bridge – Expansion Joint Repairs (new seals and timber). To be 
self-performed in 2024 

▪ Algonquin Street Bridge – Erosion & Sediment Control Measures along 
wingwalls (addition of geotextile & rip-rap stone). This is something we can 
perform internally with our roads crew. To be self-performed in 2024 

▪ Poverty Creek Bridge – Repair undermining of central support. This is something 
we can do internally with our roads crew for minimal cost. No repairs required 
in 2024 

▪ McCauley Lake Road Culvert Replacement – Planning to be completed in 2024 
and replacement planned for 2025 

o Estimates for all of the above repairs are ongoing. 
 

• Sign Retro-Reflectivity Inspections  

o Sign Inspections were completed in September 2023  

o Report was received in October 2023 

o 2 quotations for replacement of the required signage were acquired in November 2023 

and will be presented to Council for 2024 Capital budgeting 

▪ Sign replacement would be performed internally by works department and 

proposed to be included in the 2024 budget 

 

• Playground Inspection Reporting 

 

o 2024 Annual Inspection to occur in Spring of 2024 

 

• Equipment Maintenance / Notes  

 

o Tandem #7  

▪ New One-way Plow Push-frame Brackets installed in December 2023 to resolve 

one-way sway issue on #7 

31

https://www.algonquinsofpikwakanagan.com/contact-us/
https://www.tanakiwin.com/algonquins-of-ontario/algonquins-of-ontario-consultation-office/
https://www.tanakiwin.com/algonquins-of-ontario/algonquins-of-ontario-consultation-office/


▪ Rebuild on the main sander chain will be completed in February 2024 (waiting 

on parts) 

▪ Rear Axle ABS sensor was replaced in January 2024 

o Tandem #27  

▪ Replacement of the fuel / water separator required due to power loss issue and 

was covered under the extended warranty on the truck. Warranty Work 

completed in January 2024. 

▪ Truck blew water pump fan belt in January 2024. Replacement tensioner, idler 

pulley and belt installed in January 2024. 

o Tandem #33  

▪ No issues to report in January 2024 

▪ Routine Oil Change completed in January 2024 

o F-150 Pickup (#29)  

▪ No issues to report in January 2024 

o F-150 Pickup (#30)  

▪ No issues to report in January 2024 

o F-250 Pickup (#37)  

▪ No issues to report in January 2024 

o F-550 Pickup (#34) 

▪ No issues to note in January 2024 

▪ Chain Rebuild for sander will need to be replaced in off season of 2024 (included 

in annual budget) 

o Garbage Compactor  

▪ Rear Compactor Cylinder Leaking Hydraulic Fluid again and needed 

replacement.  

• Replacement Cylinder received, painted and will be installed on truck 

February 2nd, 2024 

o Float Trailer – No new issues to report in January 2024  

o Grader – Volvo Grader had error code 4.2. Strongco determined shift card for 

transmission needed to be replaced. Repair completed in January 2024 and Grader back 

up and going. 

o Thompson Water Steamer – Annual Inspection & service completed on the propane 

Thompson water steamer in December of 2023.  

 

• Winter Snowplow Maintenance: 

 

o Plow Wear Parts 

▪ Additional inventory of wear parts was ordered so we have onhand at yard  

o One-Way Plows  

▪ No new issues to note 

o Wing Plows  

▪ No Issues to note 

o Tandem Sander Chains 

32



▪ #7 Cross Chain rebuild required. Parts have been ordered and once in 

replacement will be completed in February 2024 

o 10 & 1/2ft Western V-Plow  

▪ No new issues to report in January 2024 

o 8 & 1/2ft Western V-Plow  

▪ No new issues to report in January 2024 

 

• Tender / Quotations  

 

o Currently working on gathering quotations from different subcontractors to finalize 

capital budgeting for 2024 season. Budget to be presented in February 2024. 

 

• Safety Update: 

o Incidents – No new incidents to report in January 2024 

▪ Landfill Site Attendants brought forth concerns in November 2023 of a potential 

propane leak from the heaters in the attendant shelters at Airy & Lyell Landfill 

Sites. Byer’s Heating inspected and installed new propane lines and fittings for 

heaters at both landfills on Monday November 27th. Both heaters were tested 

by Byers afterwards & determined had no leaks. No issues since regarding this 

H&S issue.  

o Implementation of new Worker Safety Program for Works Department is ongoing: 

▪ Safety Board at the Works Garage has all mandatory workplace safety 

documentation posted  

▪ Safety Talks, Safe Work Procedures (SWP’s), Safe Job Procedures (SJP’s) & JHA’s 

have been all drafted up, printed off and put in a safety binder at the yard. 

Documentation review commenced with crew in October 2023 and is (ongoing) 

• Daily PSI (Pre-Job Safety Instruction) 

• Weekly Safety Talk 

• Monthly SJP & SWP 

o Employee Training  

▪ Winter Patroller Training course by Ground Force Training completed for entire 

works department on Monday December 18th, 2023 

▪ Planned Courses for 2024 are as follows: 

• Working at Heights (external trainer) 

• 1st Aid & CPR – February 2024 (same time as fire department) 

• Propane Handling – February 2024 

• Annual WHMIS Refresher (HR Downloads) – February 2024 

• Traffic Control (Book 7) 

• Logout / Tagout 

• AODA (HR Downloads) 

o PPE Inventory - Sufficient inventory at yard for all works department employee’s 

o Monthly JHSC Meetings  

▪ 5th JHSC Meeting was held on Wednesday January 31st   

33



• Steven Ronholm (management rep), Adam Ziebarth (worker rep), Tom

Florent (worker rep) all present for meeting

▪ Meeting Notes posted on Safety Board at Yard

• Other New Business

▪ No New Business to Note

34



MONTHLY FIRE REPORT TO COUNCIL 

Reporting Date: 31st January 2024 

Training / Courses 

• Captain Courneyea is currently undertaking his level 1 Fire Inspectors course.

• Firefighter Dupuis is currently undertaking his level 1 Instructors course.

• 16th January. Whitney practice. Debrief on the Whitney structure fire (first of the year).

Equipment checked and returned to service. I am Responding app updates for members.

Calls / Responses 

• 8th January. Whitney Structure fire

• 25th January. Whitney Hwy 127, 54yr old male VSA

• 28th January. Madawaska Aylen Lake. SxS through the ice. Occupants stranded on an

island. Declined call.

Complaints / Concerns 

• Regarding my earlier report (November 2023) of a missing radio & chargers, I am

pleased to report that with the assistance of Stephen all the missing equipment has now

been found and returned to service.

Upcoming Events 

• 1st February. I will be accompanying the parents, children & teachers from St Martins of

Tours school for a winter rendezvous. Community involvement is the theme and the

OPP, Fire Dept, MNRF & the Algonquin First Nation have been invited to attend.

• 23rd & 24th February. Festival of Outdoor Rinks event at both Madawaska & Whitney

locations. FD invited to attend and offer fire prevention advice.

Correspondence / Other 

• January. All SCBA packs flow tested and the Whitney SCBA compressor serviced and

certified.

35



 
 

• 25th January. Madawaska. I ran an induction evening for 3 new firefighters. 2 will be 

starting immediately at Madawaska, the 3rd is pending the completion of his application 

paperwork. 

• 26th January. I received an enquiry from another potential Madawaska recruit. 

• 27th January. Members of the department attended the ‘Celebration of Life’ for David 

Parks (firefighter). 

36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



STAFF REPORT
Meeting Date: February 7, 2024 

Agency: Township of South Algonquin  

Staff Contact: Jennifer Baragar Deputy Treasurer 

Agenda Title: 2023 Year End Reserve Transfers 

Agenda Action: Resolution 

Recommendation    

That Township of South Algonquin Council approves, effective December 31, 2023, the following 

reserve transfers: 

1. $100,498.50 from General Reserve

2. $2,973.37 from Fire Facilities/Equipment Reserve

3. $80,964.22 from Transportation Fleet/Equipment Reserve

4. $11,864.00 from Recreation Facility/Equipment/Programming Reserve

5. $6,860 from Accessibility Reserve

6. $3,879.05 to Recreation Committee Reserve (WRec)

7. $7,431.53 to Recreation Committee Reserve (M&L Rec)

8. Transfer remaining surplus/deficit to General Reserve. Upon determination transferred surplus

will be reassigned to the appropriate reserve accounts

Background   

Annually, the Auditor and staff examine the difference between budget versus actuals to determine 

surplus/ (deficit) position. This determination provides guidance on reserve transfer requirements for 

projects and obligatory grant funding.  Our 2023 final audit will commence in late February and will be 

completed by Mackillican & Associates Audit Firm. 

Analysis 

Transfer to Reserve Transfer Amount Description

13-1010 3,879.05$    Whitney Rec Committee Fundraising Revenue

13-1010 7,431.53$    M&L Rec Committee Fundraising Revenue

Total 11,310.58$    

Township of South Algonquin

2023 Budget Transfer to Reserves

53



 

 

 
 

Alternatives  

N/A 

 

Fiscal Impact  

Based on the preliminary examination of the 2023 year-end, this funding is required to have Council 

approval to make the appropriate transfer to/from reserves to finalize the 2023 year-end. 

 

 

Attachments  

N/A 

Transfer From 

Reserve

Transfer To 2023 

Budget Transfer Amt 2023 Budget Variance Description

Gen Govt

13-1000-1000 15-9000-0200 -$                    219,807.00$     (219,807.00)$   Balance Budget after Auditor Review

13-1000-1000 15-9000-0200 9,474.00$          10,500.00$       (1,026.00)$        Office Windows (Covid Restart Grant)

13-1000-1000 15-9000-0200 67,726.50$       72,000.00$       (4,273.50)$        Townsuite Software (Efficiency Grant)

13-1000-1000 15-9000-0200 23,298.00$       23,298.00$       Strategic Plan Resolution # 23-242

Total 100,498.50$     302,307.00$     (201,808.50)$   

Protection

13-1000-1000 15-9000-0201 -$                    5,000.00$          (5,000.00)$        Radios (No longer needed)

13-2000-1000 15-9000-0201 2,973.37$          22,000.00$       (19,026.63)$      

Burn Signals $4500(2024), Thermal 

Imag Camera $2973.37, Bunker Gear 

$12500(2024)

Total 2,973.37$          27,000.00$       (24,026.63)$      

Transportation

13-3000-3000 15-9000-0202 80,964.22$       80,964.22$       Tr#37 3/4 Ton Resolution 23-241

Total 80,964.22$       -$                    80,964.22$       

Rec and Culture

13-7000-1000 15-9000-0206 4,508.00$          5,000.00$          (492.00)$            Tom MickMurry Park Story Boards

13-7000-1000 15-9000-0206 7,356.00$          13,500.00$       (6,144.00)$        Mad Complex Interior Painting

13-1000-3100 15-9000-0207 6,860.00$          7,200.00$          (340.00)$            Whitney Library Door opener

Total 18,724.00$       25,700.00$       (6,976.00)$        

Grand Total 203,160.09$     355,007.00$     (151,846.91)$   

Township of South Algonquin

2023 Budget Transfer from Reserves

54



To: Mayor LaValley and Council 

From: Tracy Cannon, Planning & Building Administrator 

Council Meeting Date: February 7, 2024 

RE: Shore Road Allowance Sale  

Agenda Action: By-Law 

RECOMMENDATION: 

That Council approve By-Law # 2023-781 to stop up and close parts of the shore road allowance in front of 

lands locally known as 54 Ottawa Street, designated as Part 1 on Reference Plan 36R-15167 in the Geographic 

Township of Airy.  

BACKGROUND: 

Council passed the below resolution at the Regular Council Meeting of May 3, 2023. 

Resolution # 23-204 

MOVED BY: Councillor Siydock 

SECONDED BY: Councillor Kuiack 

THAT: Council for the Corporation of the Township of South Algonquin authorize staff to proceed with the 

application received for the purchase of the unopened shore road allowance in front of PLAN M220 LOT 48, 

Airy Ward, locally known as 54 Ottawa Street adjacent to Galeairy Lake. 

Carried 

55



 

KEY MAP 

       54 Ottawa Street 

 

 

56



STAFF REPORT
Meeting Date: February 7, 2024 

Agency: Township of South Algonquin 

Staff Contact: Tracy Cannon, Planning & Building 

Administrator 

Agenda Title: Lake Opeongo Final Recover Strategy 

Agenda Action: Committee/Staff Reports 

Recommendation That Council authorize staff to draft a letter to the Minister of the Environment, 

Conservation and Parks and MPP John Yakabuski as requested by Phil Morlock, Owner of Hay Lake 

Lodge and Chair, Parliamentary Outdoor Caucus Assn. of Canada  

Analysis Phil Morlock, Owner of Hay Lake Lodge and Chair of Parliamentary Outdoor Caucus Assn. of 

Canada has brought it to our attention that the Ministry of the Environment, Conservation and Parks has 

released the final recovery strategy for Lake Opeongo Whitefish.  

One of the recommendations to protect Lake Whitefish (Coregonus clupeaformis) is to restrict horsepower 

for recreational fishing boats. The document states that the restriction will prevent the introduction of 

invasive aquatic invertebrates. Canoes and other nonmotorized watercrafts were also referenced as having 

potential of introducing invasive species, however there was no mention of any restriction on these 

watercrafts.  

Although it has not been stated what the horsepower will be restricted to, having any horsepower restriction 

may have a negative impact on our local businesses.  Although there isn’t any data showing how many 

anglers utilize South Algonquin restaurants, hotels/motels, and gas stations. Starting opening day, we have 

all witnessed the influx of anglers with all sizes of motorized boats in South Algonquin.   This will also 

affect many of our local anglers that enjoy fishing and camping on Lake Opeongo. Lake Opeongo and 

Galeairy Lake are the only two lakes without horsepower restrictions.  

 Final Recovery Strategy of Lake Opeongo and the survey can be accessed on the Environmental 

Registry of Ontario. The link to the Final Recovery Strategy of Lake Opeongo can also be viewed by 

clicking the below link. 

https://prod-environmental-registry.s3.amazonaws.com/2024-

01/Final%20Recovery%20Strategy%20for%20Opeongo%20Lake%20Whitefish.pdf 

Attachments  

Phil Morlock’s email, comments and key points of the strategy. 

57

https://prod-environmental-registry.s3.amazonaws.com/2024-01/Final%20Recovery%20Strategy%20for%20Opeongo%20Lake%20Whitefish.pdf
https://prod-environmental-registry.s3.amazonaws.com/2024-01/Final%20Recovery%20Strategy%20for%20Opeongo%20Lake%20Whitefish.pdf


From: Tracy Cannon
To: Tracy Cannon
Subject: FW: Finalizing recovery strategies for four species at risk and initiating pre-consultation on the species-specific policies (government

response statements)
Date: Monday, January 29, 2024 11:58:16 AM

 

From: pmorlock <pmorlock@protonmail.com> 
Sent: Thursday, January 18, 2024 2:09 PM
To: laurie siydock <dlsiydock@hotmail.com>
Cc: Tracy Cannon <operations@southalgonquin.ca>
Subject: Finalizing recovery strategies for four species at risk and initiating pre-consultation on the
species-specific policies (government response statements)

 
Hi Laurie,
 
Here is the link to the final recovery strategy for Lake Opeongo whitefish and attached a copy of my
comments on the key points. Arbitrary horse power restrictions for recreational fishing boats are
one of the key recommendations, still, in spite of a few of us and our efforts. The wording has been
altered but not the end point. 
 
As a local business owner and long time resident I suggest the Township draft a letter to the
Ontario Minister of Environment with copies to John Yakabuski who is Parliamentary Assistant to
this minister, stating the serious negative economic impacts on local businesses which arbitrary
restrictions on anglers will create. I have spoken to John on this issue when it first came to my
attention with the first recovery strategy draft last summer and again yesterday on this final version.
He is very cooperative and I believe a letter to the Minister will assist him in his efforts on behalf of
local anglers and businesses. In my opinion, there is a decided anti-fishing agenda within the
provincial Ministry of Environment bureaucracy and at Fisheries and Oceans Canada and it is
evident in their involvement with this document and policy direction.
 
Please let me know if I may be of any assistance to you or the Council in this regard.
 
 
Regards,
Phil
 
Phil Morlock
Owner, Hay Lake Cottages
Chair, Parliamentary Outdoor Caucus Assn. of Canada
 
 
 
 
Sent with Proton Mail secure email.
 

 
 
---------- Forwarded message ---------
From: Recovery, Planning (MECP) <Recovery.Planning@ontario.ca>
Date: Tue, Jan 16, 2024 at 1:45 PM
Subject: Finalizing recovery strategies for four species at risk and initiating
pre-consultation on the species-specific policies (government response
statements)
To:

58

mailto:operations@southalgonquin.ca
mailto:operations@southalgonquin.ca
mailto:pmorlock@protonmail.com
mailto:dlsiydock@hotmail.com
mailto:operations@southalgonquin.ca
https://proton.me/
mailto:Recovery.Planning@ontario.ca


 

Ministry of the Environment,
Conservation and Parks

Ministère de l'Environnement,
de la Protection de la nature et
des Parcs

Good afternoon,

I am writing to let you know that final recovery strategies for four species at
risk, prepared under the Endangered Species Act, 2007, were posted on
the Environmental Registry of Ontario on January 16, 2024:

Hudsonian Godwit (a bird found in northern Ontario)
Lake Whitefish – Opeongo Lake large- and small-bodied populations
(two distinct populations of a fish found in Algonquin Provincial Park
in Ontario)
Suckley’s Cuckoo Bumble Bee (a bee historically found across
Ontario)

We invite you to review these final recovery strategies and provide pre-
consultation input to inform the development of the government response
statements for these species.

Ontario provides protections for species at risk and their habitats under the
Endangered Species Act, 2007. The government is working with
stakeholders, Indigenous peoples and the public to improve the
effectiveness of the species at risk program, so that we can continue to
help preserve Ontario’s rich biodiversity for generations to come.

In Ontario, the first step in the recovery planning process is to gather the
best available scientific information, including Indigenous and community
knowledge, to provide advice to government on actions it should consider
in protecting and recovering a species. For endangered or threatened
species in Ontario, the Ministry of the Environment, Conservation and
Parks (MECP) receives scientific advice in the form of a species’ recovery
strategy.

Following the completion of a recovery strategy, the government is required
to respond to the advice in the strategy through a government response
statement, outlining the actions the government intends to take or support
to help recover the species. The ministry develops the government
response statement based on advice in the recovery strategy as well as
input from the public, stakeholders, other jurisdictions, and Indigenous
communities.
The final recovery strategies for Hudsonian Godwit, Lake Whitefish
(Opeongo Lake large- and small-bodied populations) and Suckley’s
Cuckoo Bumble Bee have been posted, and we invite you to provide pre-
consultation input to inform the development of the government response
statements for these species.
View the Environmental Registry of Ontario notice.
To view the final recovery strategies, please visit the links above.
To provide early input to inform the development of government response
statements, please submit information through our online surveys below.
The surveys are open from January 16, 2024 to February 15, 2024.

59

https://prod-environmental-registry.s3.amazonaws.com/2024-01/Final%20Recovery%20Strategy%20for%20Hudsonian%20Godwit.pdf
https://prod-environmental-registry.s3.amazonaws.com/2024-01/Final%20Recovery%20Strategy%20for%20Opeongo%20Lake%20Whitefish.pdf
https://prod-environmental-registry.s3.amazonaws.com/2024-01/Final%20Recovery%20Strategy%20for%20Suckley's%20Cuckoo%20Bumble%20Bee.pdf
https://ero.ontario.ca/notice/019-7851


Caution: This is an external email and may be malicious. Please take care when
clicking links or opening attachments. Do not enter your password into web pages you
are not familiar with.

Caution: This is an external email and may be malicious. Please take care when clicking links or
opening attachments. Do not enter your password into web pages you are not familiar with.

survey for Hudsonian Godwit
survey for Lake Whitefish (Opeongo Lake large- and small-bodied
populations)
survey for Suckley’s Cuckoo Bumble Bee

If you would like to provide your input by email, please send to
recovery.planning@ontario.ca.
If you have any questions, please contact Glenn Desy, Manager, Species
at Risk Recovery Section at glenn.desy@ontario.ca.

Sincerely,

Glenn Desy

Manager, Species at Risk Recovery Section

Species at Risk Branch

 

 

 

 

60

https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/YQJRY3G
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/FZGPMYY
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/3KJY63S
mailto:recovery.planning@ontario.ca
mailto:glenn.desy@ontario.ca


Comments on Opeongo Whitefish Final Recovery Strategy Document 

January, 2024 

 By  Phil Morlock 

1. The premise here is a 'Recovery Strategy' for two species of Lake Whitefish in Opeongo Lake, 

described as large and small bodied and listed as a Species at Risk. Whether this listing was 

necessary appears to be in question, based on the consultant’s report.  

2.  Excerpts:                                                                                                                                                            

" It is generally believed that there are no confirmed limiting factors which pose a meaningful 

risk to the maintenance of self-sustaining populations of Lake Whitefish iv (both forms) in 

Opeongo Lake at this time. Upon further study, it may be determined that certain factors are 

indeed limiting for Lake Whitefish in Opeongo Lake, but only under restricted 

conditions."  "Recent modeling suggests that the supply of available habitat in Opeongo Lake for 

both the large- and small-bodied populations exceeds that required by the estimated minimum 

viable population (MVP), and that current population estimates (assuming a low current 

abundance for the small-bodied population) exceed the MVP (Fung et al. 2022). Notwithstanding 

this, current population size, structure, and trends of Lake Whitefish in Opeongo Lake (both 

forms) are not known with certainty."                                       

3. Spiny Water Fleas are described as an Invasive Species posing a significant threat to the 

Opeongo whitefish, although whitefish are known to feed on Spiny Water Fleas where they 

coexist, e.g.  Lake Simcoe. However the document also refers to lakes in and adjacent to the NW 

area of the park where Spiny Water Fleas have been identified in the research literature as 

present for three centuries based on bottom sediment contents. "Spiny Water Flea is present in 

many major waterbodies surrounding Algonquin PP (EDDMapS 2023). In 2022, Spiny Water Flea 

was first detected in the northwestern region of Algonquin PP in three lakes (North Tea Lake, 

Manitou Lake, Kioshkokwi Lake) forming part of the Upper Amable du Fond River watershed (J. 

Hoare pers. comm. 2023; P. Gelok pers. comm. 2023)." 

4. Recreational angling impacts - "Angling for Lake Whitefish (either form) in Opeongo Lake was 

prohibited in 2022 following provincial listing as Threatened (MNRF 2022). While angling 

pressure for Lake Whitefish in Opeongo Lake has been low to negligible over the previous decade 

(T. Middel pers. comm. 2023), the prohibition on angling for Lake Whitefish is a statutory 

requirement under section 9 of the ESA and provided clarity to anglers and park visitors that the 

species (both forms) could no longer be targeted."   Incidental by-catch is also described as 

negligible.                                                                                                                                                            

                                                       

5. Selective editing to further the anti-fishing agenda is found in this citation on P 37 - "Given the 

likelihood and severity of Spiny Water Flea establishment, and due to the aforementioned 

challenges with wash stations, there is a need to consider more effective measures to control 

motorized watercrafts and alter angling activity on Opeongo Lake to reduce the likelihood of 

Spiny Water Flea establishment. Establishing reasonable horsepower limits * could be  

*Highlight mine 

61



P 2 

implemented swiftly to reduce motorboat traffic on the lake and would lessen the risk of invasive 

invertebrate introductions to some degree (Ridgway et al. 2018)."  However in reviewing the 

actual document written by Ridgway, it simply cites multiple examples of all forms of watercraft 

which are capable of transmitting invasive aquatic species, including but not limited to 

recreational fishing watercraft as selectively targeted in this Recovery Strategy document. Other 

popular watercraft and gear are mentioned (e.g. canoes, kayaks, paddles) - "Nonmotorized 

watercraft such as manually-driven vessels (e.g., canoes, kayaks) and associated gear (e.g., 

paddles, straps, ropes) may also act as vectors of AIS transport between waterbodies, though 

such vessels generally offer fewer opportunities for AIS transport (given an absence of livewells, 

etc., see Drake 2017). AIS may adhere to either the exterior or interior hulls of canoes or kayaks 

or become affixed to associated straps or bungee cords." However - no restrictions on non-

motorized watercraft are recommended as they are for recreational fishing 

boats.                           

6.   Threats to recreational angling - Page 28 Recommended Approaches to Recovery - Listed as 

Critical and Ongoing Management -                                                                                                  

 "Table 4. Recommended approaches to recovery of the Opeongo Lake large- and smallbodied 

populations of Lake Whitefish in Ontario. Objective 1: Minimize risk of introducing aquatic 

invasive and predatory species.- 1.2Manage watercraft (motorized and nonmotorized) and 

angling activity. • Limit boat horsepower. • Consider the feasibility of further restrictions on 

watercraft use and angling to reduce risk of aquatic invasive species introduction.  "  

Nowhere in this document or any scientific literature I am aware of, is there any evidence of a 

direct or indirect correlation between the size of anglers boats and requisite engine 

horsepower, and the introduction of aquatic invasive species, or any negative ecological impact 

in either fresh or salt water systems. Anglers are proven leaders in supporting the North 

American Model of Conservation, which requires a sound scientific basis for fish & wildlife 

management research, policy and regulation. When justified, anglers support and often request 

additional restrictions on seasons and creel limits for the benefit of the resource.  This Recovery 

Strategy is seriously deficient in sound science and pragmatic policy on several levels.   

 

7. Given the size of Opeongo Lake and the rapidity with which high winds and storms can occur, 

there are multiple examples of anglers in larger boats with sufficient horsepower who have 

rescued people in swamped canoes and small underpowered boats in rough water in recent 

years. I have done so on two occasions. It is irresponsible to arbitrarily recommend limiting 

horsepower and therefore boats of sufficient size to be safe for the large water conditions on 

Opeongo to “reasonable horsepower limits”  as referenced in this strategy, as this puts lake users 

of all types in greater peril when high winds and storms blow up suddenly as often happens. 

 

                     

62



63



CSWB Coordinating Committee Minutes                                                                                       
Tuesday January 30th 2024, 1pm via Zoom 

Present: Tracy Cannon, Sue Klatt, Annette Gilchrist, Tammy Gorgerat, Sharlene Lapenskie, Virgina 

Phanenhour, Meara Sullivan and Brittany Tomasini                                                                                   

Regrets: Sandra Barr, Bryan Martin, Tammy Thompson 

1. 2024 CSWB Plan 

Meara is finalising a 2024 version of the CSWB plan which will include information about the 

implementation teams and action items. This will be sent to the coordinating committee for review on 

February 1st. 

2. Community Development Coordinators 

Meara has met with Hannah Gutoskie (MV) and Sarah Richer (BV) to discuss creative strategies to 

address our priority risks (Meara is still trying to connect with Chris Neff at KHR). Sarah provided a list of 

potential strategies that are included at the end of the minutes. The CC discussed these items are 

agreed Meara can proceed in exploring them further. 

3. CSWB Wellness Day 

 

• The CSWB Wellness Day will promote the CSWB mandate and advise the public of the action 

plan. The gathering will also provide a safe and inclusive safe space for conversations about 

community safety and wellbeing. Attendees will learn about local supports and services 

including employment, health-care, housing, and mental health and addictions. 

• The Paul J Yakabuski Community Centre (Barry’s Bay arena) is booked for May 4th 11-3pm. 

• The charitable rate is $80 plus $16 for insurance, total cost $96 ($19.20 each). 

• The committee unanimously agreed on the proposed name “Community Safety and Wellbeing 

Wellness Day.” 

• It was also unanimously agreed to have an inclusive event, inviting services and supports outside 

of the priority risks to attend. 

• The municipalities will look internally to see who can attend on the day and for how long. 

• Door prizes will be offered. Each municipality will contact local businesses for donations. We 

also discussed a $25 municipal gift, this will be reviewed in the future. 

• Meara to meet with Joanne Haskins (Mashkiwizii Manido Foundation) to discuss how to host the 

event in a respectful manner, and how to attract Indigenous members of the community. Meara 

will also enquire to see if the blanket exercise can be done on the Wellness Day perhaps prior to 

the official start so service providers can attend. 

• For advertising, Meara will send the committee a short blurb about the event that can be 

included in the tax insert (if applicable) and will create an event poster that can be shared on 

social media. 

• Meara to create an MS Form to get a list of organisations attending the event and the activities 

or information that will be provided on the day. 

4. Next meeting                                                                                                                                                 

The Coordinating Committee will meet again in early March. 

64



 

CSWB outreach in the community: Potential Strategies  

Create a series of webinars that people can access for free on YouTube. These webinars could cover a 

variety of topics.  

A coffee get-together with a guest speaker. The guest speaker could provide information about available 

services and supports as well as answers general questions.   

Host local job fairs with employment services  to assist job-seekers with resumes, interview tips, etc. 

Hold a financial Literacy course (with a focus on housing- explaining mortgages, down payments, 

budgeting, etc.) There could also be a fun aspect to this where attendees get to paint their dream house 

on canvas, or something along those lines. 

Bonnechere Union Public Library occasionally has people from Trinity Down Counselling offer free 

sessions. This is something that could be expanded to other areas if a suitable private space is available. 

 

65



COUNCIL MEETING 

February 7, 2024 

 
ACTION: 

1) Resolution of Support; Township of Clearview & Town of Plympton-

Wyoming Re: Cemetery Transfer/Abandonment Administration & 

Management Support 

2) Resolution of Support; City of Greater Sudbury & Town of Plympton-

Wyoming RE: Amendment to the Occupational Health and Safety Act to 

Clarify the Definition of “Employer” 

3) Resolution: Association of Ontario Road Supervisors (A.O.R.S.) Municipal 

Equipment Operator Course 

4) Physician Recruitment & Retention for Barry’s Bay & Area; Funding 

Request 

5) Rural Economic Development Grant (R.E.D.) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



546 Niagara Street, P.O Box 250  |  Wyoming ON, N0N 1T0  |  519-845-3939  |  www.plympton-wyoming.com 

The Honourable Todd McCarthy 
Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery 
777 Bay Street, 5th Floor 
Toronto, ON M5B 2H7 
DELIVERED VIA EMAIL 

January 15th 2024 

Re: Cemetery Transfer/Abandonment Administration & Management Support 

Dear Minister McCarthy,  

Please be advised that at the Regular Council Meeting on January 10th 2024, the Town of Plympton-
Wyoming Council passed the following motion, supporting the resolution from Clearview Township 
regarding Cemetery Transfer/Abandonment Administration & Management Support. 

Motion 13 
Moved by Councillor Bob Woolvett 
Seconded by Councillor John van Klaveren 
That Council support item ‘k’ of correspondence from Clearview Township regarding Cemetery 
Transfer/Abandonment Administration & Management Support. 

Carried. 

If you have any questions regarding the above motion, please do not hesitate to contact me by phone 
or email at ekwarciak@plympton-wyoming.ca.   

Sincerely, 

Erin Kwarciak 
Clerk 
Town of Plympton-Wyoming  

cc: Jim Cassimatis, BAO Interim CAO / Registrar 
Bob Bailey, MPP – Sarnia-Lambton  
All Ontario Municipalities 

67

mailto:ekwarciak@plympton-wyoming.ca


 

Clerk’s Department 

Township of Clearview 

Box 200, 217 Gideon Street 

Stayner, Ontario L0M 1S0  

clerks@clearview.ca | www.clearview.ca 

Phone: 705-428-6230 

 

Page 1 of 2 
 

December 12, 2023 File: C00.2023 

Hon. Todd McCarthy 
Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery 
777 Bay Street, 5th Floor 
Toronto ON M5B 2H7 
 
Sent by Email  
 

RE:  Cemetery Transfer/Abandonment Administration & Management Support 

Please be advised that Council of the Township of Clearview, at its meeting held on 

December 11, 2023, passed a resolution regarding Cemetery Transfer/Abandonment 

Administration & Management Support as follows:  

Moved by Councillor Walker, Seconded by Councillor Broderick, Whereas under the 

Funeral, Burial and Cremation Services Act, 2002 (FBCSA), when a cemetery is 

declared abandoned by a judge of the Superior Court Justice, the local municipality 

within whose geographic boundaries the land of the cemetery is located, becomes the 

owner of the cemetery with all the rights and obligations in respect of the cemetery 

and the assets, trust funds and trust accounts related to it that the previous owner or 

operator possessed;  

And Whereas over the last decade, there has been an increase in the number of 

churches and local cemetery boards initiating processes to transfer ownership or 

abandon their owned and operated cemeteries to the local municipality due to such 

issues as high maintenance costs, inaccuracy of records, lack of financial and human 

resources to effectively operate and maintain the cemetery, increased regulatory 

processes regarding training, selling of interment rights, financial operation of the care 

and maintenance fund, etc.;  

And Whereas municipalities experience the same issues and pressures that churches 

and local boards experience with the operation and maintenance of cemeteries within 

its jurisdiction, and additional transfers of cemetery lands only compound the burden 

on municipal taxpayers;  

68

mailto:clerks@clearview.ca
http://www.clearview.ca/


Clerk’s Department   December 12, 2023 

Page 2 of 2 

And Whereas cemeteries are important infrastructure where the reasonable costs for 

interment rights, burials, monument foundations, corner stones and administration charges 

do not sufficiently support the general operation of cemeteries;  

And Whereas the interest earned from the care and maintenance fund(s) of a cemetery do 

not provide adequate funding to maintain the cemetery with the rising costs of lawn and turf 

maintenance contracts and monument restoration;  

Now Therefore Be It Resolved that Council of the Township of Clearview requests that the 

Province through the Ministry of Public and Business Service Delivery and the Bereavement 

Authority of Ontario (BAO) consider the following to assist municipalities in this growing 

concern of cemetery transfers: 

• Amend the Funeral, Burial and Cremation Services Act, 2002 (FBCSA), to have the 

Province, through the BAO, identified as the default owner and operator of a cemetery 

when it is abandoned;  

• Provide annual funding (based on the number of cemeteries a municipality owns and 

operates) to municipalities to assist with the maintenance of inactive and active 

cemeteries; Page 6 of 7  

• Provide free training opportunities for municipalities regarding cemetery 

administration; and,  

• Investigate and support the design of universal cemetery software for use by 

municipal cemetery operators that can be offered at an affordable cost.  

And that this resolution be circulated to the Hon. Todd McCarthy, Ministry of Public and 

Business Service Delivery, Jim Cassimatis, BAO Interim CEO/Registrar, MPP Brian Saunderson 

and all Ontario municipalities. Motion Carried. 

For reference, please find attached the Staff Report LS-032-2023 that provides background 

for the above resolution. If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact the 

undersigned.  

Regards,  

 

Sasha Helmkay-Playter, B.A., Dipl. M.A., AOMC 

Clerk/Director of Legislative Services 

 
cc: Jim Cassimatis, BAO Interim CEO/Registrar 

 MPP Simcoe Grey, Brian Saunderson  

 Ontario Municipalities 

69



546 Niagara Street, P.O Box 250  |  Wyoming ON, N0N 1T0  |  519-845-3939  |  www.plympton-wyoming.com

The Honourable Doug Ford
Premier of Ontario
premier@ontario.ca
DELIVERED VIA EMAIL 

January 15th 2024

Re: Amendment to the Occupational Health and Safety Act to Clarify the Definition of 

‘Employer’ 

Dear Premier Ford,

Please be advised that at the Regular Council Meeting on January 10th 2024, the Town of Plympton-
Wyoming Council passed the following motion, supporting the resolution from the City of Greater
Sudbury re. Amendment to the Occupational Health & Safety Act to Clarify the Definition of
‘Employer’. 

Motion 14 
Moved by Councillor Bob Woolvett 
Seconded by Councillor Kristen Rodrigues 
That Council support item ‘L’ of correspondence from the City of Greater Sudbury re. Amendment to 
the Occupational Health & Safety Act to Clarify the Definition of ‘Employer’. 

Carried. 

If you have any questions regarding the above motion, please do not hesitate to contact me by phone
or email at ekwarciak@plympton-wyoming.ca.

Sincerely,

Erin Kwarciak
Clerk
Town of Plympton-Wyoming

cc: Honourable David Piccini, Minister of Labour, Immigration, Training and Skills Development
Honourable Paul Calandra, Minister of Municipal Affairs and Housing
Bob Bailey, MPP – Sarnia-Lambton
Association of Municipal Affairs and Housing
Ontario’s Big City Mayors 
Mayors and Regional Chairs of Ontario
Council of Ontario Construction Associations
Ontario Chamber of Commerce
All Ontario Municipalities

70

mailto:premier@ontario.ca
mailto:ekwarciak@plympton-wyoming.ca


City of Greater Sudbury 
Ville du Grand Sudbury

/ Jr / PT Greater GrandSodbury

December 12, 2023

Municipalities of Ontario
*Sent Via Email*

PO BOX 5000 SIN A 
200 BRADY STREET 
SUDBURY ON P3A5P3

CP5000SUCCA 
200, RUE BRADY
SUDBURYON P3A5P3

705.671.2489

www.greatersudbuiy.ca
www.grandsudbury.ca

Re: Amendment to the Occupational Health and Safety Act to Clarify the Definition of 
“Employer”

The following resolution was passed by Council of the City of Greater Sudbury on 
December 5, 2023:

CC2023-303: WHEREAS in 2015 the City of Greater Sudbury (the "City”) 
entered into a contract with a contractor experienced in road construction 

projects to complete a project on Elgin Street in the City’s downtown core;

AND WHEREAS the contract provided that the contractor would be the 
constructor for the project as that term is defined in the Occupational Health 
and Safety Act (the "Act”);

AND WHEREAS an employee of the constructor operating a grader on the 
project struck and killed a pedestrian;

AND WHEREAS the City was charged with offences under the Act as the 
constructor and the employer;

AND WHEREAS after being acquitted at trial and on appeal, the Ontario Court 
of Appeal, in a decision issued on April 23, 2021, found the City to be liable for 
contraventions of the Construction Regulations as an employer as it employed 
quality control inspectors to monitor the quality of work on the project from 
time-to-time;

AND WHEREAS the Supreme Court of Canada, in a decision issued on 
November 10, 2023, was evenly divided 4-4 on the issue resulting in dismissal 
of the City’s appeal;

AND WHEREAS the consequence of this decision is that municipalities in 
Ontario, as well as all other owners of property in the province, who wish to 
undertake construction, are subject to being charged and convicted as an 
employer for offences in relation to project sites for which they have no control 
and have, in accordance with the Act, contracted with an entity to assume 
plenary oversight and authority over the work on such site as the constructor; 
AND WHEREAS the potential of an owner being charged as an employer as 
that term is defined in the Act in circumstances where it has engaged a 
constructor disregards and renders meaningless the owner-constructor 
provisions contained in the Act and presents an unacceptable level of 
increased risk and confusion for owners and contractors throughout the 
province;

71

http://www.greatersudbuiy.ca
http://www.grandsudbury.ca


AND WHEREAS the City believes that the safety of workers is paramount 
however the safety of workers on construction projects in Ontario is not 
increased by placing liability on parties that do not have control of and are not 
responsible for the conduct of the work on such sites;

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Council for the City of 
Greater Sudbury requests that the province amend the Occupational Health 
and Safety Act to clarify the definition of “employer"’ to exclude owners that 
have contracted with a constructor for a project;

AND BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT this motion be provided to the 
Honourable Doug Ford, Premier of Ontario, the Honourable David Piccini, 
Minister of Labour, Immigration, Training and Skills Development, the 
Honourable Paul Calandra, Minister of Municipal Affairs and Housing, France 
Gelinas, MPP for Nickel Belt, Jamie West, MPP for Sudbury, the Association 
of Municipalities of Ontario, the Federation of Northern Ontario Municipalities, 
Ontario's Big City Mayors, Mayors and Regional Chairs of Ontario, Northern 
Ontario Large Urban Mayors, the Council of Ontario Construction 
Associations, the Ontario Chamber of Commerce and all Ontario 
municipalities.

Yours truly,

Brigitte Sobush
Manager of Clerk’s Services/Deputy City Clerk

c. Members of City Council
Eric Labelle, City Solicitor and Clerk

72



     268 Maiden Lane, Suite 206, PO Box 2669, St. Marys, ON N4X 1A4 
  Tel: 226.661.2002 • Fax: 226.661.2003 • admin@aors.on.ca • www.aors.on.ca 

January 8, 2024 

Dear Head of Council, Deputy Head of Council and Councillors, 

Your local Public Works department provides invaluable services within your community. Without 
the dedicated public works employees that you are fortunate to have, many basic functions in your 
community would not be able to happen. Without maintained roads, your emergency services 
(police, fire, and ambulance) would not be able to respond to calls, school buses could not run to 
get children to school, and your residents would not be able to leave to work, school, 
appointments, children’s extra-curriculars and any other activity important to them. Additionally, as 
you work with the provincial government to tackle the housing crisis, your communities require 
more core infrastructure to handle the growth. For the health and safety of our communities it is 
important we keep our Public Works department staff complement full, and well trained. 

Public Works departments across the province have already begun to feel the impacts of labour 
shortages, and as we will begin to see many retirements across the province, the shortage will 
become even more exasperated.  From a recent survey that AORS completed with public works 
departments from across Ontario, we know that 91.5% of respondents will be hiring entry level 
positions in the next three to five years. However, we are already seeing the start of the labour 
shortage. From our survey, we found that 70% of respondents already reported getting less than five 
applications for entry level positions when posted, and the top three challenges municipalities are 
currently facing is a lack of applicants, applicants that do apply not meeting the required 
qualifications and municipalities having to compete with private sector positions.  

Over the last year, AORS has been dedicating much of our advocacy to encouraging youth to 
consider careers in public works through career fairs, local government presentations to students, 
developing printed resources for guidance counsellors and much more. AORS has also been 
working closely with Fanshawe College Corporate Training Solutions to develop a Municipal 
Operator Course that would train potential municipal equipment operators to come to your 
municipality with the basic knowledge they need to begin maintaining your core infrastructure. This 
would be the first course of its kind that would attract potential students from across the Province 
of Ontario. To fund this endeavor, AORS has applied for a Skills Development Fund through the 
Province’s Ministry of Labour, Training, Immigration and Skilled Trades. We are reaching out to you 
for your support in our application and your advocacy to the province on why having more – and 
qualified – applicants to our public works departments are so imperative.  

We would ask that you consider passing the following motion: 

WHEREAS, municipal public works departments from across the Province of Ontario provide 
invaluable services to our communities ensuring the health and safety of all residents; 

AND WHEREAS, if it was not for our municipal public works employees from across the Province of 
Ontario maintaining our public roads systems, our communities would not be able to function as 

73

mailto:admin@aors.on.ca
http://www.aors.on.ca/


emergency personnel could not respond to calls, school buses could not get our children to 
school, residents would not be able to get to work, school or appointments and many more basic 
functions would not be able to happen;  

AND WHEREAS, municipal public works departments are already feeling the impacts of a labour 
shortage, which will only be exasperated over the next three to five years, which will cause levels of 
service municipalities are able to provide to ensure the health and safety of our residents to 
decrease; 

AND WHEREAS, there is currently no provincial-wide course that properly trains potential 
municipal public works employees, specifically relating to municipal heavy equipment. 

THEREFORE IT BE RESOLVED, that (INSERT MUNICIPALITY NAME) supports the work of the 
Association of Ontario Road Supervisors to develop a Municipal Equipment Operator Course to 
address this issue; 

AND THAT, (INSERT MUNICIPALITY NAME) calls on the Province of Ontario’s Ministry of Labour, 
Training, Immigration and Skilled Trades to fully fund the Municipal Equipment Operator Course in 
2024 through the Skills Development Fund; 

AND THAT, a copy of this resolution be sent to the Minister of Labour, Training, Immigration and 
Skilled Trades David Piccini, (INSERT MUNICIPALITY’S NAME)’s Member of Provincial Parliament 
(INSERT LOCAL MPP NAME) and the Association of Ontario Road Supervisors.  

We appreciate your on-going support and should you have any questions or concerns, please do 
not hesitate to contact AORS for all things municipal public works! 

Best regards, 

John Maheu  Dennis O’Neil 
AORS Executive Director AORS Member Services Coordinator 

Christie Little  Kelly Elliott 
AORS Training and Programming Coordinator AORS Marketing and Communications 

Specialist 

74



January 5, 2024 

Township of South Algonquin 
7 Third Ave. 
PO Box 217 
Whitney, Ontario 
K0J 2M0 

Attention:  Mayor Ethel LaValley 
mayor@southalgonquin.ca 

Dear Mayor LaValley 

Re: Physician Recruitment and Retention for Barry’s Bay and Area 

The importance of community supported physician recruitment and retention cannot be overstated. Each of 
our local organizations is dependent upon having local physicians as members of our health care team. Yet, the 
competition for these limited human resources has intensified. Since the dissolution of our local Joint 
Municipal Recruitment and Retention Committee, our prospects for future physician recruitment have 
diminished greatly. At the same time, ongoing physician recruitment and retention efforts are essential. Long-
Term Care, Hospice and Palliative Services, the Family Health Team, Madawaska Valley Association for 
Community Living, Barry’s Bay and Area Home Support, the St. Francis Memorial Hospital, and most of all 
primary care access for the community, depend on the presence of local family physicians.  Importantly, none 
of our agencies is funded for recruitment and retention of family physicians. 

Locally, provincially, nationally, and internationally, many factors have impacted the supply of family 
physicians.  Competition is fierce and individual’s expectations have increased. Both incentives and 
remuneration from other communities have increased, changing the competitive landscape, and increasing the 
expectation for incentivization.  And, while our area is deemed remote and rural, we do not qualify for Ontario 
Ministry of Health “northern” incentives for physician recruitment and retention.  

Demand for physicians is at an all-time high and physicians are harder to come by.  An example of this is the 
drop in the number of visiting locum emergency physicians, resulting in our local physicians having to take on 
more shifts in our local emergency department. Local physicians have been working hard to reach out to their 
colleagues and friends to come work in our community.  They have also taken on several residents and 
students with the idea of recruiting them.   In the end, however, our community will be in a very difficult 
position to recruit, as we cannot offer a competitive incentive package and we cannot subsidize recruitment 
activities.  

Without physicians, and the local health care services that they support: 

• The health of our community will diminish;
• Our residents will need to travel longer distances to access health care;

75

mailto:mayor@southalgonquin.ca


• It will become more difficult to attract new residents to the area, and potentially new businesses; and,
• There is the possibility of decreased employment in the area if our local health care services are not

sustainable.

We are therefore submitting a proposal to dedicate a municipal investment on both a one-time and an ongoing 
basis to support the highly competitive recruitment and retention landscape.   This proposal is supported by 
the local health service providers named herein. This proposal is being shared with the following municipalities: 
Madawaska Valley, South Algonquin, North Hastings, Brudenell, Lyndoch and Raglan, North Algona and 
Wilberforce, Killaloe Hagarty and Richards.  

The funding for this request would be divided among the municipalities to be more affordable.  An equitable 
split among the municipalities is proposed.  

This would mean an ongoing cost of $6,500 per municipality, with a one-time contribution of $25,000 per 
municipality.  The one-time contribution could be staged over 3 years (2024-2026).  The reason for this, is 
payments to a recruit would be over the length of their return of service contract. 

PROPOSED ONE-TIME INVESTMENT: 

1. RETURN OF SERVICE:

Since the dissolution of the Joint Municipal Recruitment and Retention Committee, there is no longer an 
incentive package available to offer prospective physicians interested in moving to our community.  An average 
offering is $150,000 for a return of service of five (5) years.  This fund would allow for a competitive level of 
offering to a potential recruit. 

Proposal:  Municipalities combine to fund a one-time reserve of $150,000 for return of service agreements 
with future family physicians. The return of service agreement could be administered through St. Francis 
Memorial Hospital. 

PROPOSED ANNUAL INVESTMENTS: 

1. RESIDENCY ACCOMMODATION:

Medical Residents choose ‘rural’ placements as an elective.  Fewer residents have been choosing family 
medicine and even fewer choose rural settings.  It has been noted that a medical resident that does a 
placement on site is more likely to return to practice here.  Presently, medical residents coming to the area are 
only partially funded for accommodation.  There is no stipend for other expenses either.  A resident will weigh 
whether they come to Barry’s Bay to do a placement partially based on cost.  Residents often live close to their 
university and so the easiest thing for them to do is a placement within proximity of the university.  Those 
medical residents who do come here do so with intent.   A stipend to support residents is therefore 
recommended. 

76



Proposal: Provide stipend to residents for lodging, travel, and other expenses. 
Proposed COST per annum:  $12,000 

2. RECRUITMENT FAIRS:

Recruitment fairs are an important means of meeting potential candidates in person.  There are several 
physician recruitment fairs that, based on experience, are worthwhile.   

-The University of Ottawa residency fair;
-The Quebec Out of Province (careers) Recruitment Fair/ Federation des Médecins Residents du
Quebec; and,
-The Rural and Remote Medicine Course.

Booth rental and materiel expenses are variable.  This includes giveaways, prize draws and other promotional 
material.  These fairs are held on an annual basis, and attendance is crucial.  The estimated cost to attend two 
of the aforementioned events per annum with promotional material would be approximately $7,000.  

Proposal: Provide funds to support recruitment fair attendance. 
Proposed COST per annum:  $7,000 

3. TRAVEL STIPEND:

The locum physicians who come to the hospital to work emergency shifts are paid a stipend of $150 for travel. 
We have been informed that this compensation is far less than in other communities.  With a Canada Revenue 
Agency rate of $0.60 per kilometer, a 188 km trip to and from Ottawa equates to $225.60. 

Proposal: Provide funds to subsidize physician locum travel. 
Proposed COST per annum: $20,000 

SUMMARY OF PROPOSAL: 

ONE-TIME RETURN OF SERVICE INCENTIVE FUNDS $150,000 

ANNUAL FUNDS: 
-RESIDENCY ACCOMMODATION EXPENSES $12,000 
-RECRUITMENT FAIRS $ 7,000 
-TRAVEL STIPEND $20,000 
TOTAL PROPOSED ANNUAL COSTS $39,000 

Thank you for your consideration of this request. 

77



Cc:  Bryan Martin 
clerk@southalgonquin.ca 

Monica Prymack, Executive Director 
Madawaska Valley Association for 
Community Living 

Susan Farrar, Executive Director 
Madawaska Valley Family Health 
Team 

Lisa Hubers, Executive Director 
Madawaska Valley Hospice and 
Palliative Care 

Joanne King, Executive Director 
Barry’s Bay and Area Homes Support 

Trisha DesLaurier, CEO,  
Valley Manor Long Term Care Nursing 
Home 

Greg McLeod, COO,  
St. Francis Memorial Hospital & Rainbow 
Valley Community Health Centre 

Julia Boudreau, Chief Executive Officer 
and President 
St. Francis Memorial Hospital 

78

mailto:clerk@southalgonquin.ca


Physician Recruitment and 

Retention

Local Municipal Officials

Presented by:

Julia Boudreau, CEO

Dr. Jason Malinowski COS 

Greg McLeod COO 

December 8th, 2023

79



Physician Recruitment and 

Retention

 PHYSICIAN RECRUITMENT

 Current situation (local physicians)

 Current situation (provincial physicians)

 Emergency Department closures

 Physician responsibilities/role

 SFMH Investments/ Site Redevelopment

 Challenges/ Risks/ Considerations

 Diagnosis and prescription for

recruitment and retention

80



Current Situation (local)

Estimated current local 

roster size:

Rainbow Valley, Madawaska 

Valley Family Health Team, 

Family Health Organization 

7,695

FHT/FHO waitlist 

961

 ED visits (orphan 

patients):

 14% of SFMH registered 

ED patients have no 

primary care provider. 

This accounts for ~1,500 

visits per year.  The 

average age of these 

patients is 50.6 years.  

Compare this to an 

average of unrostered

Ontario residents of 

7.1%

81



Current Situation (local) 

Contd.

 Health Force Ontario (HFO) physicians who work in ED 
reduced from 70% to 55%.  This means local physicians 
have had to staff the ED to a higher degree.  HFO 
physician supply has decreased since 2020, while the 
number of hospitals using HFO has increased by 50%.

 Inpatient coverage is 1 week per month shared between 
4 physicians.

 One physician has worked in the ED on average 48 hours 
per week for the past 14 months.

 4 physicians of 6 work in the ED

 The local group of physicians are the only resource 
available to Valley Manor, Hospice, other services.

82



Current Situation (Provincial)

DID YOU KNOW? At least 1 million Ontarians do not 

have regular access to primary care. 

• The shortage is especially acute in northern and 

rural areas 

• There is a shortage of 100 family doctors and 130 

specialists in northern Ontario alone

83



Current Situation (Provincial) 

contd.

 Widespread demand for physicians has increased 
competition between communities, including urban areas.

 ROMA (Rural Ontario Municipal Association) facts:

• Rural Ontarians are losing primary care providers at a rate 
of 12% per year – four times faster than people in urban 
centres.

• With current patient loads, it takes three new primary care 
physicians to replace one retiring family doctor.

• An estimated 525,000 rural residents are lacking a primary 
care provider.

• In both 2022 and 2023, there were more than 600 
temporary Emergency Department closures in 
rural Ontario.

• 65% said there was no access to walk-in clinics locally.

84



ED Closures

85



86



ED Closures

2022 saw 158 

closures 

across the 

province (over 

184 days lost)

87



May 17, 2023

88



May 23, 2023

89



Seaforth Community Hospital emergency department to close overnight 

Tuesday
May 23, 2023

90



ER in Thessalon closing two days this week due to doctor 

shortage

May 23, 2023

91



92



Local Physician roles and 

responsibilities

 Primary Care

 Hospice Palliative Care

 Valley Manor

 Hospital inpatient (rounding and on-call)

 Call consists of 1 week per month

 Emergency Department shifts

 12 hour shift

93



Physician Responsibilities/ 

Role

 Clinical Committees (at each agency) and 

Administrative work

 Life/ work balance of local physicians

 Newer physicians view work from a “worth it” lens.  

E.g. “Is it worth it to work so much?”

 2012 had 9 local physicians sharing responsibilities

 Physicians are selective in which roles they fill

 Physician role in a rural setting has a high level of 

responsibility  

 Medical Residents tell us that they choose where to 

practice selectively for life-work balance

94



Previous Municipal Funding 

(Expenses)

 Expense items for previous funding

 Hosting physician site visits

 Recruitment fairs

 Giveaways

 Advertising

 Physician retention 

 Recruiter and office supplies

 Return of Service funding

95



“I think it’s fantastic”:  Incentive program aims to 

attract physicians to North Grenville

96



Council wrapped up its budget discussions Tuesday night by approving an operating budget of $477 million, a 

capital budget of $132.5 million and an average 3.5 per cent property tax increase that includes one per cent 

dedicated to infrastructure spending.

The extra million dollars for the doctor recruitment program is to be funded from the working reserve fund so it 

will have no effect on the tax increase.

Council unanimously approved the funding that is to be added to more than $600,000 remaining from the 

initial $2 million council committed in late 2021.

“It is the time that we should step up and show Kingstonians that we are thinking about them, we stand with 

them and, as their representatives, we are committed to take care of them,” Trillium District Coun. Jimmy 

Hassan, who proposed the extra funding, said.

Since it began, the program has attracted 13 new family physicians to the city.

But even that success hasn’t been enough to make a dent in wait lists for family doctors.

Up to 30,000 Kingston residents do not have a family doctor, a situation that has been called a crisis by many 

as older doctors retire and not enough new doctors are entering the field to replace them.

City chief administrative officer Lanie Hurdle said the doctor recruitment program was not included in the 

2024 budget but added that a staff report is to come to council in February.

That report is to outline some of the options council has to continue the program and some of the changes 

that could be made to it, such as expanding the recruitment efforts to other primary care professionals, such 

as nurse practitioners, or even finding ways to reduce the administrative burden on doctors.

97

https://www.thewhig.com/news/local-news/kingston-council-approves-health-care-spending
https://www.thewhig.com/news/local-news/kingston-recruits-nine-new-family-doctors-to-city
https://www.thewhig.com/news/shortage-of-family-physicians-in-kingston-area-leaves-absolutely-impossible-situation
https://www.thewhig.com/news/shortage-of-family-physicians-in-kingston-area-leaves-absolutely-impossible-situation


Hospital & 

Local 

Investments 

for 

Recruitment 

& Retention

- The Medical Building (built in 
2003) does not generate 
profit for the hospital.

- The hospital has made 
significant renovations to the 
facilities for visiting 
physicians

- Meals are provided to our ED 
physicians

- ED / Ambulatory  Care 
redevelopment 

- Capital equipment 
improvements

- Staff training

- Recruitment conferences

- Medical/ Student placements

98



Accreditation/ Electronic 

Medical Record
St. Francis Memorial Hospital and Valley Manor are both 
accredited organizations.

SFMH is a level 6 (out of 7) EMRAM (Electronic Medical 
Record Adoption Model as rated by HIMSS (Health 
Information and Management System Society).  This 
means that we are a highly progressive health facility in 
relation to medical records. 

The Electronic Medical Record (EPIC) used at SFMH is 
connected with a large swathe of hospitals, including 
Heart Institute, The Ottawa Hospital, Deep River, and 
Renfrew Victoria Hospital among others.

These elements, as well as the pending redevelopment 
of the Emergency Department and Valley Manor would 
be considerations for potential recruits.

99



Recruitment and Retention 

considerations

 Residency placements have been proven as the best 

source of recruitment

 Attendance at recruitment fairs/ networking 

opportunities are imperative

 At recruitment fairs, prospective recruits are comparing 

return of service opportunities

 Competition for non-local physician resources includes 

travel premiums

 Fewer Medical residents electing to pursue family 

medicine

100



Recruitment Challenges/ 

Risks

 Return of Service contracts ending soon for recruited 
physicians.  No assurance that physicians will remain 
further than their agreed period.

 The number of physicians does not guarantee coverage, 
numbers of rostered patients, work in the ED, etc.

 Resident placements (rural) are  primarily funded by the 
resident themselves.  Fewer residents pursuing rural 
electives.

 Limited opportunities for spouse can mean single family 
income if moving to the area.

 Competition to recruit is fierce including major urban 
centres.

101



Recruitment Challenges/ 

Risks

 We are the only community in our position that we are 

aware of not offering incentives

 Newer physicians are less likely to settle in a rural area/ 

pursue rural medicine

 Prior recruitment did not define requirements for 

physicians

 Lack of active recruitment/ limited scope of search 

(international?)

 Without incentives, there is a high likelihood we will not 

be successful.

102



Retention

 We have an excellent local health team

 Retention as important as recruitment.  Burnout and 
high demands are real factors.

 Expectations for a local physician are high, as is the 
workload.

 They need to know that they are supported and that the 
community understands that they are shorthanded

 Items heard

 Accommodation for locums,

 Incentives for locums on top of OHIP funding, 

 Travel incentives

103



Diagnosis / 

prescription for 

Recruitment and 

Retention

104



Call to 

Action

 With no Return of Service funding, our 

community is not competitive for 

recruitment

 Competition is fierce

 Who responsible for recruitment 

(Medical Staff? Hospital? Community? 

Municipalities? Industry?)

 Needs: 

 Funds to support Return of Service 

agreements

 Funds to support resident/ student visits

 Funds to support recruitment efforts

 Funds to support locum travel

105



Questions & Next Steps

106



107



108



 

 

More information and the grant application can be found on Rural Economic Development (RED) 
Program Guidelines | ontario.ca  

109

https://www.ontario.ca/page/rural-economic-development-red-program-guidelines#section-0
https://www.ontario.ca/page/rural-economic-development-red-program-guidelines#section-0


COUNCIL MEETING 

February 7, 2024 
 

CORRESPONDENCE RECEIVED FOR INFORMATION:  

1) Renfrew County and District Health Unit – Medical Officer of Health Report to 

Board and Food Affordability 

 

 

 

 

110



Renfrew County and District Health Unit 
“Optimal Health for All in Renfrew County and District” 

 
 

1 | P a g e  
 

 

 
Medical Officer of Health Report to the Board 
Tuesday, January 30, 2024 

 

Health Protection 

Healthy Environments 

Institutional Enteric Outbreak Management: 

Enteric outbreaks involve bacteria or viruses that cause infections in the gastrointestinal 
system, usually including symptoms of nausea, vomiting, and/or diarrhea. These 
pathogens can be spread from person-to-person or from a contaminated water or 
food source. Enteric outbreaks are managed by public health inspectors (PHI) in the 
Healthy Environments team.  

There have been two declared enteric outbreaks so far in 2024, both involving 
retirement homes with an unknown causative agent. Most commonly, the causative 
agent is norovirus, which can easily be spread person-to-person or through the 
environment. PHIs provide institutions with enteric outbreak management guidance 
during outbreak situations. 

Food Recalls:  

Under the Food Safety Protocol, Renfrew County and District Health Unit (RCDHU) 
inspectors support food recall notifications when requested by the Ministry of Health, 
the Canadian Food Inspection Agency, or the Chief Medical Officer of Health (MOH). 
This support, when requested, usually is in the form of verbal notifications to local long-
term care homes (LTCH), retirement homes (RH), day cares, or grocery stores. Inspectors 
may also attend facilities to conduct physical checks for recalled food products.  

In November 2023, the Chief MOH requested assistance from health units to notify LTCH, 
RH and childcare settings of the Malichita and Rudy brand cantaloupe recall. These 
cantaloupes have been linked as the likely source of a nation-wide Salmonella 
outbreak. As of the latest Federal update, there were 164 cases and 7 deaths linked to 
the outbreak. There have not been any local cases linked to this outbreak. 

Salmonella Prevention and Case Management: 

The number of Salmonella infections across RCDHU in 2023 was lower than the previous 
five-year average. Beyond assisting with food recalls as required, our key local 

111



Page 2 of 7 

preventive measures are education and inspections. Public health inspectors offer food 
handler training courses and they conduct regular inspections of food premises to 
ensure regulatory compliance with the Food Premises Regulation. The inspected food 
premises also include home-based food operators that supply food to the public. These 
measures help not just in preventing Salmonella infections, but also many other enteric 
infections.  

In 2023, inspectors took part in a food safety education workshop with the County of 
Renfrew and local farmers market vendors to explain the importance of food safety in 
preventing disease. This partnership is ongoing and the education workshop is planned 
once again for 2024. 

In terms of case management, public health inspectors follow up with each individual 
who is infected with Salmonella to discuss the disease characteristics, treatment (if 
necessary), and methods to control spread to others, including exclusion from certain 
high-risk settings if required. 

There have not been any Salmonella outbreaks in 2023. 

Tick Surveillance: 

In 2023, 60 ticks were collected through the passive surveillance program and 
submitted to the National Microbiological Laboratory for analysis. 55 ticks were tested 
for the bacteria that causes Lyme disease. Out of those 55 ticks, 17 were positive for the 
Lyme disease bacteria, 32 were negative, and we are still awaiting results for 6 
specimens. This is a positivity rate of 35% for those ticks with results. This updated 
positivity rate will be communicated to local physicians, as it informs post-exposure 
prophylaxis against Lyme disease (the use of an antibiotic that is sometimes indicated 
after a tick exposure). 

Immunization 

COVID-19 and Influenza Vaccine: 

RCDHU concluded its large-scale community COVID-19 and flu vaccine clinics for the 
general public in December. In an effort to keep the community informed, a media 
release was issued to announce the winding down of community mass clinics: RCDHU 
COVID-19 and Flu Community Mass Clinics Winding Down. Despite the conclusion of 
these community clinics, it's important to note that COVID-19 and flu vaccines remain 
accessible through participating pharmacies and some primary care providers. 
Additionally, RCDHU continues to offer booked appointments for individuals at higher 
risk of severe respiratory illness and for children 11 years of age and younger, whom 
pharmacies cannot always vaccinate.  

112

https://www.rcdhu.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/12/Dec-21-2023-RCDHU-COVID-19-and-Flu-Community-Mass-Clinics-Winding-Down.pdf
https://www.rcdhu.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/12/Dec-21-2023-RCDHU-COVID-19-and-Flu-Community-Mass-Clinics-Winding-Down.pdf


Page 3 of 7 
 

As of January 11th, RCDHU has administered 7,761 doses of COVID-19 vaccine, and 
3,724 doses of influenza vaccine throughout the fall campaign. RCDHU delivered 
vaccines through a combination of mass community-based clinics, in-home 
vaccination services, and mobile vaccination services, which targeted retirement 
homes and congregate care settings. RCDHU has also dispensed a total of 20,605 
doses of influenza vaccine to health care partners across Renfrew County and District 
(RCD).  Pharmacies continue to play an active role in the administration of COVID-19 
and Influenza vaccines. As of January 11th, pharmacies in RCD have administered 
11,374 doses of COVID-19 vaccine and 13,921 doses of influenza vaccine.  

Thanks to the efforts of RCDHU’s immunization team, our health system partners, and 
residents of RCD we achieved a higher COVID-19 immunization rate with the new XBB 
vaccine than Ontario both for all ages and for those older than 65.  

Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) Vaccine: 

The Ministry of Health launched a publicly funded high-risk RSV vaccination program 
targeting individuals 60 years and older living in long-term care homes (LTCH), including 
Elder Care Lodges and residents of licensed retirement homes providing dementia 
care. Initially, RCDHU dispensed doses to long-term care homes and directly 
administered 49 doses of the RSV vaccine to eligible retirement home residents. 
Effective December 7th, 2023, the eligibility criteria expanded to include individuals 
aged 60 and older in the following populations:  

• Patients in hospital receiving alternate level of care (ALC)  
• Patients receiving hemodialysis or peritoneal dialysis 
• Recipients of solid organ or hematopoietic stem cell transplants  
• Individuals experiencing homelessness  
• Individuals who identify as Frist Nations, Inuit, or Metis 

RCDHU is currently reaching out to several community partners to support with the 
administration of RSV vaccine to our eligible populations. RCDHU will also be offering 
booked appointments to offer RSV vaccine to clients that are eligible.  

Immunization of School Pupils Act (ISPA): 

ISPA surveillance will continue into 2024, involving the distribution of immunization 
notices to all students in RCD who are overdue for the required ISPA vaccines, or missing 
immunization information. Currently, approximately 2,445 (15.7%) students in RCD are 
overdue for at least one ISPA vaccine.  Notably, the active surveillance efforts in 
December have reduced the number of students with no immunization records from 
approximately 738 (4.7%), to approximately 541 (3.4%) as of January 11, 2024.    

Throughout the winter months, RCDHU will host ISPA school clinics in all high schools 
across RCD, along with community-based clinics for students.  Students also have the 

113



Page 4 of 7 

option to receive vaccinations through their health care providers and report their 
immunizations to RCDHU, preferably using the online Immunization Connect Ontario 
tool (ICON).

Respiratory Illness 

As seen on RCDHU’s Respiratory Illness Data Summary, overall respiratory illness activity 
across RCD remains high, with the majority of indicators showing “very high” levels. In 
recent weeks, there have been early signs of decreasing activity.  

Outbreaks: 

Throughout December 2023 and the first few weeks of January 2024, outbreak activity 
was relatively consistent, with an average of 2 new respiratory outbreaks declared 
each week. Roughly half of the respiratory outbreaks declared during this time were 
COVID-19 related, while the other half were due to pathogens such as influenza, RSV, or 
rhinovirus. In recent weeks, the number of outbreaks has slowed down somewhat. There 
are currently 3 active respiratory outbreaks in RCD (as of January 24th). 

Respiratory Disease Outcomes: 

On average, there have been 6-7 new hospitalizations for COVID-19 each week over 
the past six weeks. This is similar to the weekly number of new admissions in November 
2023, but higher compared to September-October 2023. Additionally, hospitalizations 
for influenza and RSV have been reported by local hospitals.  

There were 6 COVID-19 related deaths reported in the past 6 weeks. While weekly 
death rates have been relatively high in RCD compared to Ontario during this time, 
overall COVID-19 death rates for 2023 are very similar (10.9 per 100,00 in RCD vs. 12.4 
per 100,000 in Ontario).  

Test Percent Positivity and Cases: 

The first influenza case of the 2023-24 season was reported to RCDHU in early December 
2023. Weekly case numbers increased over the first two weeks of January, with a total 
of 23 influenza cases (22 influenza A + 1 influenza B) reported as of January 17th. 
Correspondingly, percent positivity for influenza has increased during this time, reaching 
~12-13%. Provincially, influenza percent positivity may have peaked and has decreased 
recently. 

COVID-19 testing percent positivity remains high for both Ontario and Eastern Region 
PHUs but appears to be trending downward (currently sitting around 17%). Our local 

114

https://re.icon.ehealthontario.ca/#!/welcome
https://re.icon.ehealthontario.ca/#!/welcome
https://www.rcdhu.com/healthy-living/respillnesses/respiratory-illness-data-summary/


Page 5 of 7 
 

positivity over the past 6 weeks has ranged between 15-25% and decreased to 16.7% in 
our most recent respiratory illness data summary update.  

Wastewater: 

Preliminary data for Eastern region health units shows that COVID-19 wastewater signals 
may be starting to decrease following sustained high levels. Local signals from both 
Pembroke and Petawawa sites increased throughout the month of December but 
appear to decreasing in more recent weeks.  

 

Health Promotion 

Substance Use Harms 

Drug-related deaths and harms remain a major focus for RCDHU. Preliminary reports 
indicate that there were 38 suspect drug poisoning deaths across RCD in 2023, which is 
approximately double the number of deaths in 2022 and three times the number of 
deaths that usually occurred from 2018-19. Over the first 8 months of 2023, preliminary 
reports have identified 16 deaths that were specifically related to opioids. In terms of 
opioid-related emergency department (ED) visits, there were approximately 70 ED visits 
to local hospitals in 2023, which is 1.5-2 times higher than the annual number of visits 
seen in 2018-19. 

Our substance use and harm reduction team is planning the development of a 
community-wide drug strategy, that will require collaboration with numerous 
community partners. This strategy will systematically assess and plan work across the 
four pillars of prevention, treatment, harm reduction, and enforcement.  

Alongside partners, we continue to work on enhanced outreach and mobile support 
models to better serve people who use drugs across RCD. This collaboration resulted in 
the submission of a funding application to Health Canada’s Substance Use and 
Addictions Program in the fall. In the past two weeks we also submitted a separate 
application to the Public Health Agency of Canada for funding to support 
implementation planning of the Icelandic Prevention Model, an evidence-based and 
well-established means of preventing substance use among youth.  

Alongside these new initiatives, we continue our work to provide harm reduction 
supplies and education supports in the community, to provide updated 
epidemiological information to support planning and advocacy, and to communicate 
with partners and the media about the situation. Recently, we have developed a 
regional analysis of the burden of opioid-related deaths across RCD, shown in Table 1. 

 

115

https://www.publichealthontario.ca/en/Data-and-Analysis/Infectious-Disease/COVID-19-Data-Surveillance/Wastewater


Page 6 of 7 
 

Table 1. Number of opioid-related deaths and rate of opioid-related deaths per 100,000 
people per year by geographical area in RCD, January 2018 to June 2023 

Geographical Area  
Population 
(Census 
2021) 

Number of 
opioid-
related 
deaths 

Rate of opioid-
related deaths 
per 100,000 
people per 
year 

Arnprior and Area (including 
McNab/Braeside)  

17,220 6 6.3 

Barry’s Bay and Area (including 
Algonquin Provincial Park; Brudenell, 
Lyndoch and Raglan; Killaloe, Haggarty, 
Richards; Madawaska Valley; North 
Algona Wilberforce; South Algonquin)  

12,157 4 6.0 

Deep River and Area (including 
Laurentian Hills; Head, Clara, Maria)  

7,327 5 12.4 

Renfrew and Area (including 
Admaston/Bromley, Horton, Greater 
Madawaska) 

17,231 8 8.4 

Pembroke and Area (including 
Bonnechere Valley, Laurentian Valley, 
Whitewater Region)  

34,937 34 17.7 

Petawawa 18,160 5 5.0 

Data source: Office of the Chief Coroner for Ontario (2). Data is preliminary and subject 
to change.  

Notes:  

• Opioid-related deaths include both confirmed and probable cases as defined 
by the Office of the Chief Coroner. 

• Deaths are primarily categorized according to the location where the death 
occurred. 

• Table does not include deaths that occurred within the Algonquins of 
Pikwakanagan First Nation. 

 

 

116



Page 7 of 7 
 

Enabling Aging in Place - Healthcare Excellence Canada  

In November 2023, RCDHU contributed to the Ottawa Valley Ontario Health Team’s 
(OVOHT) application for funding under the Enabling Aging in Place – Healthcare 
Excellence Canada initiative as part of a cross-sectoral team. Healthcare Excellence 
Canada has selected our group’s “Falls Pathway” proposal for participation in Phase 1 
Seed Funding (January to April 2024). The funding will support the development of 
implementation and evaluation plans for the pathway, designed to prevent and 
reduce harms from falls among older adults. RCDHU will contribute in-kind support by 
providing demographic data for older adults and current falls data. Additionally, 
RCDHU will continue to participate as a core member of the working group.  

 
 
Submitted by: Dr. Jason Morgenstern 
Medical Officer of Health  
Renfrew County and District Health Unit 
 

117



FOOD AFFORDABILITY
in Renfrew County and District, 2023

1

Some people are unable to consistently access food due to financial constraints, 

resulting in a condition known as food insecurity. When incomes are low, people 

may have to choose between paying for food or paying for other basic necessities, 

like housing and utilities. This is a significant public health problem.

Each year, Renfrew County and District Health Unit (RCDHU) monitors local food 

affordability and food insecurity rates in Renfrew County and District (RCD).

1 in 6 households 
are food insecure in Renfrew County 

and District1

1 in 4 children 
are food insecure in 

Ontario2

Monitoring Food Affordability

RCDHU used the Ontario Nutritious 

Food Basket (ONFB) tool to monitor 

food affordability across RCD. In May 

2023, staff went to nine local grocery 

stores and collected prices for the 

same 61 food items. Food costs were 

then combined with housing rental 

rates and compared to various 

income situations to determine the 

local affordability of food. 

The ONFB is a list of food   

items that make up a 

hypothetical grocery basket 

based on Canada’s Food 

Guide. It is intended to model 

what a family might buy while 

following nutritional 

guidelines.

Renfrew County and District Health Unit
“Optimal Health for All in Renfrew County and District”

www.rcdhu.com  •  1.800.267.1097  •   @RCDHealthUnit 

118



Housing rental rates were calculated using the 2021 Canadian Rental Housing 

Index (CRHI), adjusting for inflation. RCDHU conducted additional research to 

assess how well this data represents the current rental market in RCD. Findings 

suggest that the CRHI rental prices may be as much as 70% below prices for new 

rentals in the current market. RCDHU recommends caution when evaluating the 

following income scenarios.

Identifying Food Insecurity in RCD

As seen below, local income scenarios show the 

difficulties low-income households experience when 

paying for housing and food. After paying for food and 

rent, the remaining monthly income is available for 

necessities like utilities (like heating and electricity), 

childcare, medical and dental bills, phone and internet 

services, transportation costs, clothing, pets, etc. 

Results indicate that families with lower incomes struggle to afford food. This is due not 

only to high food prices, but also to incomes that are too low to cover basic necessities.

What’s Left           

each month for…

Renfrew County and District Health Unit

Food Affordability in Renfrew County and District, 2023

Income Scenarios in Renfrew County and District

Note: Food and rental costing methodologies were changed in 2023. As a result, the data 

described in this report should not be compared to previous reports.

One Person, ODSP*
Monthly income: $1,372

* Ontario Disability Support Program

One Person, Ontario Works
Monthly income: $868

Family of Four, Ontario Works
Monthly income: $2800

2

119



Renfrew County and District Health Unit

Income scenarios in RCD Monthly 

Incomea

Estimated 

Monthly 

Rentb

Monthly 

Cost of 

Food

What’s 

Left

Households with Children

Family of Four, Ontario works $2,800 $1,232 $1,177 $391

Family of Four, One Full-Time Minimum 

Wage Earner
$4,166 $1,232 $1,177 $1,757

Family of Four, Median Income (after tax, 

in Ontario)
$9,290 $1,232 $1,177 $6,881

Single Parent Household with 2 Children, 

Ontario Works
$2,566 $1,132 $868 $566

Single Parent Household with 2 Children, 

Full-Time Minimum Wage Earner
$4,308 $1,132 $719 $2,457

Households without Children

One Person Household, Ontario Works $868 $759c $421 -$312

One Person Household, Ontario Disability 

Support Program
$1,372 $821 $421 $130

One Person Household, Old Age Security/ 

Guaranteed Income Supplement
$1,996 $821 $306 $869

Married Couple, Ontario Disability Support 

Program
$2,437 $821 $702 $914

Single Pregnant Person Household, 

Ontario Disability Support Program
$1,412 $821 $401 $190

a Includes benefits and credits
b May or may not include utilities
c This scenario uses rental rates for a bachelor apartment 

Food Affordability in Renfrew County and District, 2023

Note: The ONFB tool used to calculate the monthly cost of food assumes 

that people have the time, skills, and equipment to make meals from scratch.

Also, the Canada Food Guide and ONFB may not cover the dietary needs of all 

religious and cultural groups. They do not include traditional Indigenous foods and 

food acquisition practices. Additionally, the ONFB excludes certain items like pre-

packaged foods, baby foods, special dietary products (like gluten-free), or 

cleaning and personal hygiene products. RCDHU recognizes these significant 

limitations to the ONFB.

3

120



Food Insecurity is a Public Health Concern

The widespread nature of food insecurity is a serious 

public health concern. 

In RCD, nearly 1 in 6 (17%) households are food insecure.1 

This includes those who are marginally, moderately, and 

severely food insecure. In Ontario, 1 in 4 children (24.6%) 

live in food-insecure households, affecting nearly 700,000 

children.2

Food insecurity            

has long-lasting      

health impacts for 

children and adults. 

Read more at: Food 

Insecurity.

4

Food insecurity can affect anyone:

Being employed, receiving wages, or 

having a salary does not guarantee 

protection from food insecurity. More 

than half (60.2%) of food-insecure 

households in Canada indicated 

wages, salaries, or self-employment as 

their main source of income.2

Individuals receiving social assistance are at higher risk of experiencing food 

insecurity. In Canada, 69.9% of households receiving social assistance report 

experiencing food insecurity.2

Besides income, individuals may 

experience a disproportionately high 

rate of food insecurity if they: 2-4

• live in rental housing

• are a single female parent

• are a member of a racialized group 

• identify as Indigenous 

Renfrew County and District Health Unit

Food Affordability in Renfrew County and District, 2023

Food insecurity is a result of poverty.   

To solve the problem, we need to take action against poverty and implement 

income-based solutions. 

You too can take a stance against food insecurity and advocate for change. Find 

out how you can take action by visiting: Food Insecurity.    

We all deserve to have our basic needs met and live with dignity.

121

https://www.rcdhu.com/healthy-living/nutrition/
https://www.rcdhu.com/healthy-living/nutrition/
https://www.rcdhu.com/healthy-living/nutrition/


Renfrew County and District Health Unit

Food Affordability in Renfrew County and District, 2023

References

1. Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario).
Household food insecurity estimates from the Canadian Income Survey:
Ontario 2019-2022. Toronto, ON: King’s Printer for Ontario; 2023.

2. Tarasuk V, Li T, Fafard St-Germain AA. Household food insecurity in Canada,
2022. Toronto: Research to identify policy options to reduce food insecurity
(PROOF). 2023. Available from: https://proof.utoronto.ca/wp-
content/uploads/2023/11/Household-Food-Insecurity-in-Canada-2022-
PROOF.pdf

3. PROOF. Who are most at risk of household food insecurity [Internet]?
Toronto, ON: University of Toronto; 2023 [cited 2023 Nov 23]. Available
from: https://proof.utoronto.ca/food-insecurity/who-are-most-at-risk-of-
household-food-insecurity/

4. Ontario Dietitians in Public Health. Position Statement and Recommendations
on Responses to Food Insecurity. 2020. Available from:
https://www.odph.ca/odph-position-statement-on-responses-to-food-
insecurity-1

5

122

https://proof.utoronto.ca/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/Household-Food-Insecurity-in-Canada-2022-PROOF.pdf
https://proof.utoronto.ca/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/Household-Food-Insecurity-in-Canada-2022-PROOF.pdf
https://proof.utoronto.ca/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/Household-Food-Insecurity-in-Canada-2022-PROOF.pdf
https://proof.utoronto.ca/food-insecurity/who-are-most-at-risk-of-household-food-insecurity/
https://proof.utoronto.ca/food-insecurity/who-are-most-at-risk-of-household-food-insecurity/
https://www.odph.ca/odph-position-statement-on-responses-to-food-insecurity-1
https://www.odph.ca/odph-position-statement-on-responses-to-food-insecurity-1


February 7, 2024  

MOTIONS OF COUNCIL 

Moved by:    Seconded by:                                   Res. # 24- 

THAT: Council for the Corporation of the Township of South Algonquin approves the annual 

Operating Grant donation of $2,500.00 to the Flying Feathers Archery Club. 

-Carried-

-Defeated-

Moved by:  Seconded by:                         Res # 24-  

THAT: Council for the Corporation of the Township of South Algonquin authorizes the 

CAO/Clerk-Treasurer effective December 31, 2023 to make the following reserve transfers: 

1. $100,498.50 from General Reserve

2. $2,973.37 from Fire Facilities/Equipment Reserve

3. $80,964.22 from Transportation Fleet/Equipment Reserve

4. $11,864.00 from Recreation Facility/Equipment/Programming Reserve

5. $6,860.00 from Accessibility Reserve

6. $3,879.05 to Recreation Committee Reserve (WRec)

7. $7,431.53 to Recreation Committee Reserve (M&L Rec)

8. Transfer remaining surplus/deficit to General Reserve. Upon determination transferred

surplus will be reassigned to the appropriate reserve accounts.

AND THAT the aforementioned transfer be completed following auditor review. 

-Carried-

-Defeated-

Moved by:  Seconded by:                          Res # 24- 

THAT: Council for the Corporation of the Township of South Algonquin authorize staff to 

proceed with the application received for the purchase of the unopened shore road allowance as 

discussed at the January 17, 2024 Asset Management Committee Meeting for lands in front of 

CON 5 PT LOT 13, Lyell Ward, locally known as 178 Davies Lane, adjacent to Lyell Lake on 

the condition that an easement be granted benefitting 198 Davies Lane through a Consent 

Application process.   

-Carried-

-Defeated-

Moved by:  Seconded by:                          Res # 24- 

THAT: Council for the Corporation of the Township of South Algonquin accepts Gloria 

Beauclair as a member of the Whitney Recreation Committee.  

-Carried-

-Defeated- 

 

 

 

123



Moved by:  Seconded by:                          Res # 24- 

WHEREAS, municipal public works departments from across the Province of Ontario provide 

invaluable services to our communities ensuring the health and safety of all residents; 

AND WHEREAS, if it was not for our municipal public works employees from across the 

Province of Ontario maintaining our public roads systems, our communities would not be able to 

function as emergency personnel could not respond to calls, school buses could not get our 

children to school, residents would not be able to get to work, school or appointments and many 

more basic functions would not be able to happen; 

AND WHEREAS, municipal public works departments are already feeling the impacts of a 

labour shortage, which will only be exasperated over the next three to five years, which will 

cause levels of service municipalities are able to provide to ensure the health and safety of our 

residents to decrease; 

AND WHEREAS, there is currently no provincial-wide course that properly trains potential 

municipal public works employees, specifically relating to municipal heavy equipment. 

THEREFORE IT BE RESOLVED, that the Township of South Algonquin supports the work of 

the Association of Ontario Road Supervisors to develop a Municipal Equipment Operator Course 

to address this issue; 

AND THAT, The township of South Algonquin calls on the Province of Ontario’s Ministry of 

Labour, Training, Immigration and Skilled Trades to fully fund the Municipal Equipment 

Operator Course in 2024 through the Skills Development Fund; 

AND THAT, a copy of this resolution be sent to the Minister of Labour, Training, Immigration 

and Skilled Trades David Piccini, Township of South Algonquin’s Member of Provincial 

Parliament, John Yakabuski and the Association of Ontario Road Supervisors. 

-Carried-

-Defeated-

Moved by:  Seconded by:                          Res # 24- 

THAT: Council for the Corporation of the Township of South Algonquin implements a $10.00 

replacement fee for Waste Disposal Site Passes; 

AND at such time the Schedule of Fees By-Law 2023-768 is amended or replaced this fee will 

be included in the schedule.  

-Carried-

-Defeated-

Moved by:  Seconded by:                          Res # 24- 

THAT: Council for the Corporation of the Township of South Algonquin supports the 

resolutions from Township of Clearview and The Town of Plympton-Wyoming regarding 

Cemetery Transfer/Abandonment Administration & Management Support. 

-Carried-

-Defeated- 

 

 

 

 

124



Moved by:  Seconded by:                          Res # 24- 

THAT: Council for the Corporation of the Township of South Algonquin supports the 

resolutions from City of Greater Sudbury and The Town of Plympton-Wyoming regarding an 

amendment to the Occupational Health and Safety Act to clarify the definition of “Employer”. 

-Carried-

-Defeated- 

 

125



COUNCIL MEETING
February 7, 2024 

By-Laws: 

Moved by: Seconded by:  Res. # 23- 

THAT: 

1) By-Law 2024-781 for the stopping up and closing shore road allowance in front of 54 Ottawa Street

2) By-Law 2024-782 to provide for an Interim Tax Levy and to provide for the payment of taxes.

3) By-Law 2024-783 Confirm the Proceedings of Council

BE READ A FIRST TIME AND BE DEEMED READ A SECOND TIME 

-Carried-

-Defeated-

Moved by: Seconded by:   Res. # 23- 

THAT: 

1) By-Law 2024-781 for the stopping up and closing shore road allowance in front of 54 Ottawa Street

2) By-Law 2024-782 to provide for an Interim Tax Levy and to provide for the payment of taxes.

3) By-Law 2024-783 Confirm the Proceedings of Council

BE READ A THIRD TIME AND PASSED

-Carried-

-Defeated- 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

126



THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF 

SOUTH ALGONQUIN 

BY-LAW NO. 2024-781 

Being a By-law to provide for the stopping up and closing part of the shore 

road allowance along Madawaska River (Galeairy Lake) in front of lands 

legally described as PLAN M220 LOT 48 and locally known as 54 Ottawa 

Street designated as Part 1 on Reference Plan 36R-15167 in the Geographic 

Township of Airy, within the Township of South Algonquin, in the District of 

Nipissing.  

 WHEREAS: 

1.The original road allowance laid out by the original Crown survey along the shore of

Madawaska River (Galeairy Lake) is a “highway" by virtue of Section 26 of The Municipal

Act, 2001, S.0.2001, c.25 (the "Act") as amended; and

2. By Section 9 and Section 11 of the Act, a municipality is empowered to permanently close

a highway; and

3. The owners of land abutting part of the said original road allowance have applied to the

Municipality to close it and sell it to the said owners; and

4. The closure will not result in any person having no motor vehicle access to and from that

person's land over any highway; and

5. The part of the said road allowance closed by this By-law is not covered with water and

does not abut any land owned by the Crown in right of Canada or lead to any work owned

by the Crown in right of Canada, and therefore, the consent of neither the Ministry of

Natural Resources of Ontario, nor the Government of Canada to the passing of this By-           

law is required by Section 43 or Section 34(2) respectively of the Act; and

6. Adequate and reasonable public notice of its intention to pass this by-law was given by

the Municipality, in accordance with Township of South Algonquin By-Law, 2017-546.

 NOW THEREFORE the Council of The Corporation of the Township of South 

Algonquin hereby enacts as follows: 

1. That those parts of the original allowance for road along the shore of Madawaska River

(Galeairy Lake) lying in front of lands legally described as Plan M220 LOT 48 and locally

known as 54 Ottawa Street, designated as Part 1 on Reference Plan 36R-15167 in the

geographic Township of Airy in the Township of South Algonquin in the District of

Nipissing are declared surplus and hereby permanently closed.

2. That those parts of the said road allowance described in paragraph 1 hereof be sold and

conveyed to the owners of the land abutting same (or their successors in title) for a price

calculated at the rate of $10.00 per linear foot or $33.00 per metre plus all survey,

advertising, administrative, legal and other costs and expenses associated with the said

closure, sale and conveyance.

4. That the Mayor and CAO/Clerk Treasurer of the Municipality be hereby authorized and

directed to perform all acts and to take such steps and execute such documents under the

seal of the Municipality as are required to transfer the said road allowance permanently

closed by this By-law to the owners of the abutting land, and to authorize the  electronic

registration of a Transfer  in the Land Registry Office for the Land Titles Division of

Nipissing (#36) North Bay in consideration of and upon payment of the sale  price and

costs and expenses aforesaid.

5. That this By-Law shall take effect upon the final passing hereof.

6. Any other By-Law antedating this By-Law is hereby repealed.

127



       READ A FIRST AND SECOND TIME THIS 7th DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2024. 

      ______________________________       ________________________________ 

Ethel LaValley, Mayor     Bryan Martin, CAO/Clerk-Treasurer 

READ A THIRD TIME AND FINALLY PASSED THIS 7th DAY OF FEBRUARY, 

2024. 

     ______________________________       ________________________________ 

       Ethel LaValley, Mayor       Bryan Martin, CAO/Clerk-Treasurer 

128



 

 

 

 
CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP  

OF SOUTH ALGONQUIN 

BY-LAW NO: 2024-782 
            Being a By-Law to provide for an Interim Tax Levy  

and to provide for the payment of taxes 

 

 WHEREAS Section 317(1) of the Municipal Act, 2001, provides that the Council  

of a local Municipality, before the adoption of the estimates for the year under  

Section 290, may pass a by-law levying amounts on the assessment of property in  

the local municipality rateable for local municipality purposes; 

AND WHEREAS Section 317(3), p.(1) of the Municipal Act, 2001, provides that the 

amount levied on a property, shall not exceed 50% of the total amount of taxes for municipal 

and school purposes levied on the property for the previous year. 

AND WHEREAS Section 317(3), p.(3) of the Municipal Act, 2001, provides that for the 

purposes of calculating the total amount of taxes for 2024, if any taxes for municipal and 

school purposes were levied on a property for only part of the previous year, because 

assessment was added to the tax roll during the year, an amount shall be added equal to the 

additional taxes that would have been levied on the property if the taxes had been levied for 

the entire year, 2023. 

AND WHEREAS Section 317(9) of the Municipal Act, 2001, provides that if the Council 

of a municipality is of the opinion that the taxes levied under subsection (1) on a property 

are too high or too low in relation to its estimate of the total taxes that will be levied on the 

property, the Council may adjust the taxes on the property to the extent it considers 

appropriate. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Council for the Corporation of the 

Township of South Algonquin enacts as follows: 

1. THAT for the year 2024 the interim levy for all property classes shall be 

calculated at 50% of the total amount of taxes for municipal and school 

purposes levied on the property for the previous year.  

2. THAT the amount levied on a property shall not exceed the prescribed 

percentage, being not more than 50% of the total amount of taxes for   

municipal and school purposes levied on the property for the previous year. 

3. THAT the said interim tax levy shall become due and payable in two 

instalments:  1st instalment: March 31, 2024  

2nd instalment: May 31, 2024 

4. THAT on all taxes of the interim levy, which are in default on the first day 

after the due date, a 1.25% penalty shall be added and thereafter a penalty of 

1.25% per month will be added on the 1st day of each and every month the 

default continues, until December 31, 2024.  

5. THAT the collector is hereby authorized to mail or cause the same to be 

mailed to the residence or place of business of such person indicated on the 

last revised assessment roll, a written or printed notice specifying the amount 

of taxes payable. 

6. THAT taxes are payable at the Township of South Algonquin, 7 Third 

Avenue PO Box 217 Whitney ON K0J 2M0. 

7. THAT all current tax collection policy and procedure related to penalty and 

interest charges shall remain in full force and effect. 

8. THAT this By Law shall come into force and take effect immediately upon 

the passing thereof. 

 

READ A FIRST AND SECOND TIME on February 7th, 2024. 

  

  

                                                                            

  ________________________       _______________________________ 

    Ethel LaValley – Mayor          Bryan Martin-CAO/Clerk Treasurer 

 
 

 

 

READ A THIRD TIME, PASSED AND ENACTED on February 7th, 2024. 

  

  

                                                                                                                                

_________________________    _______________________________ 

    Ethel LaValley – Mayor       Bryan Martin-CAO/Clerk Treasurer     

 

129



CORPORATION OF THE 

TOWNSHIP OF SOUTH ALGONQUIN 

BY-LAW NO.  2024-783 

BEING A BY-LAW TO CONFIRM 

THE PROCEEDINGS OF COUNCIL 

WHEREAS Section 5(1) of the Municipal Act 2001, Chapter 25 and amendments thereto provides 

that the powers of a municipal corporation are to be exercised by its council; 

AND WHEREAS Section 5(3) of the Municipal Act 2001 Chapter 25 and amendments thereto 

provides that the powers of every council shall be exercised by By-Law; 

AND WHEREAS it is deemed necessary and expedient that the proceedings and actions of the 

Council of the Corporation of the Township of South Algonquin be confirmed and adopted by By-

Law, for the regular meeting held on:    

February 7, 2024 

THEREFORE, the Council of the Corporation of the Township of South Algonquin enacts as 

follows: 

1. THAT the action of the Council of the Corporation of the Township of South Algonquin in

respect to each recommendation contained in the reports of the Committees and in respect

to each motion, resolution and other action passed and taken by the Council at its said

meeting, is hereby adopted, ratified and confirmed as if all such proceedings were expressly

embodied in this By-Law.

2. The Mayor or in her absence, the Presiding Officer of the Council and the proper officials

of the Municipality are hereby authorized and directed to do all things necessary to give

effect to the said action or to obtain approvals where required.

3. The Mayor or in his/her absence the Presiding Officer and the Clerk or in his/her absence

the other designated signing officer, are hereby directed to execute all documents required

by Statute to be executed by them, as may be necessary in that behalf and to affix the

Corporate Seal of the Municipality to all such documents.

4. THAT in the event any provision or provisions of this By-Law be deemed illegal or not

enforceable, it or they shall be considered separate and severable from the By-Law, and its

remaining provisions shall remain in force and be binding as though the said provision or

provisions had never been included.

READ A FIRST AND SECOND TIME on February 7, 2024. 

 ________________________       _______________________________ 

   Ethel LaValley – Mayor         Bryan Martin-CAO/Clerk Treasurer 

READ A THIRD TIME, PASSED AND ENACTED on February 7, 2024. 

_________________________   _______________________________ 

   Ethel LaValley – Mayor     Bryan Martin-CAO/Clerk Treasurer    

130


	ED Redev Campaign Presentation SA FEb 2024 .pdf
	Slide 1
	Slide 2: A History of Caring
	Slide 3: About our Emergency Department
	Slide 4
	Slide 5: Challenges with Today’s Emergency Department
	Slide 6
	Slide 7: The Opportunity – Emergency Department
	Slide 8: The Opportunity – Ambulatory care clinic
	Slide 9
	Slide 10: CAMPAIGN TIMELINE
	Slide 11: ED Redevelopment Costs
	Slide 12
	Slide 13: Help us Grow Together
	Slide 14: We all need and depend on our hospital

	Final - Food Affordability in Renfrew County and Disitrct 2023.pdf
	Slide 1: FOOD AFFORDABILITY in Renfrew County and District, 2023
	Slide 2: Food Affordability in Renfrew County and District, 2023
	Slide 3: Food Affordability in Renfrew County and District, 2023
	Slide 4: Food Insecurity is a Public Health Concern
	Slide 5: Food Affordability in Renfrew County and District, 2023

	ED Redevelopment  Physician Recruitment and Retention (Municipal Presentation December 2023) (2).pdf
	Slide 1: Physician Recruitment and Retention
	Slide 2: Physician Recruitment and Retention
	Slide 3: Current Situation (local)
	Slide 4: Current Situation (local) Contd.
	Slide 5: Current Situation (Provincial)
	Slide 6: Current Situation (Provincial) contd.
	Slide 7: ED Closures
	Slide 8
	Slide 9: ED Closures
	Slide 10
	Slide 11
	Slide 12
	Slide 13
	Slide 14
	Slide 15: Local Physician roles and responsibilities 
	Slide 16: Physician Responsibilities/ Role
	Slide 17: Previous Municipal Funding (Expenses)
	Slide 18
	Slide 19
	Slide 20: Hospital & Local Investments for Recruitment & Retention 
	Slide 21: Accreditation/ Electronic Medical Record 
	Slide 22: Recruitment and Retention considerations
	Slide 23: Recruitment Challenges/ Risks
	Slide 24: Recruitment Challenges/ Risks
	Slide 25: Retention
	Slide 26: Diagnosis / prescription for Recruitment and Retention
	Slide 27: Call to Action
	Slide 28




